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This integrated annual report has been compiled 
in accordance with the integrated reporting 
principles contained in the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct set out in the King Report 
on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009 
(King III). We recognise, in line with the principles 
of King III, that companies should report not 
only on financial performance, but also on their 
sustainability, by disclosing social, environmental 
and economic information material to the Group 
and its stakeholders. This integrated annual 
report provides stakeholders with relevant 
financial and non-financial information to enable 
them to obtain a more balanced view of our 
business. The board of directors (the board) is 
committed to applying the reporting standards 
as required by King III and recognised best 
practice.
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In the year under review Bauba 
converted its small scale mining 
permit into a 30-year mining right, 
significantly increasing its mining 
reserves and allowing for the continued 
development of its chrome resources. 
Bauba achieved a targeted monthly 
production of 20 000Mt run-of-mine 
chrome ore until an unexpected 
collapse in the chrome ore price 
resulted in Bauba placing its chrome 
ore mine, Moeijelijk, under care and 
maintenance for the second half of the 
financial year. 

Platinum exploration
The ongoing depressed platinum group metal (PGM) prices persisted 
during this financial year and restricted potential opportunities for 
raising meaningful funding for the ongoing development of Bauba’s 
platinum assets. Accordingly, the board continued with the decision 
undertaken in the 2014 financial year for onsite exploration of its 
platinum assets to remain suspended. This curtailed platinum 
exploration activities and corresponding expenditure on the two 
platinum clusters along the Eastern Limb of the Bushveld Igneous 
Complex. The Group’s prospecting rights expired on 17 July 2015 and 
applications for retention permits under section 31(1) of The Mineral 
and Petroleum Resources Development Act (Act 28 of 2002, as 
amended) for both of the Group’s prospecting rights were submitted 
on 13 July 2015. The granting (if so granted) of such retention permits 
would in essence suspend any further obligatory expenditure and 
work on these platinum assets for a period of three years from the 
date of grant of such retention permits. 

On 17 February 2016 the aforesaid retention permits received a positive 
recommendation from the Chief Mine Economist of the Department 
of Mineral Resources (the DMR), Limpopo Region. Accordingly, the 
Group now awaits the possible granting of the aforesaid retention 
permit applications. 

Chrome resource
Bauba continued its mining operations under its small scale mining 
permit granted on 24 October 2014 by the DMR over the farm 
Moeijelijk 412KS (Moeijelijk) which allowed Bauba to continue its 
operations over the initial allowable 5ha area whilst the Group’s 
application for a 30-year mining right over the aforesaid property was 
being prepared. 

The aforesaid 30-year mine right was subsequently granted by the 
DMR on 31 May 2016. The Group now has access to the remaining 
chrome orebody which is substantially greater than what was 
previously allowed for under the small scale mining permit.

Strategic and 
operations 

report
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Bauba mined a total of 94 229Mt chrome ore run-of-mine in the year 
under review. After the unexpected collapse of the chrome ore price 
at the end of November 2015, the Bauba board of directors decided 
to place Moeijelijk under care and maintenance. This constrained the 
target of 240 000Mt annual production. The chrome ore price has 
recovered significantly and production is planned to resume in the first 
quarter of 2017.

The Group progressed in its endeavour to obtain a water use licence. 
An application was submitted on 12 August 2015 and an official 
Acknowledgement of Receipt was received from the Department 
of Water and Sanitation (DWS) on 12 October 2015. The DWS has 
advised the Group that the granting of the aforesaid water use licence 
is imminent.

The board is not aware of any current impediments to the granting of 
the full scale water use licence. Accordingly, the board believes that 
the application will be successful and is cautiously optimistic that it 
may be granted during the last quarter of 2016.

Additional confirmatory drilling of the down dip portion of the orebody 
was finalised which resulted in a South African Code for Reporting 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 
(SAMREC) compliant resource model being completed in March 2016 
(see page 15).

The development of the underground mining operations may possibly 
commence in mid-2017, subject to the granting of a pending 
water use licence application and prevailing market conditions. The 
development of underground mining operations will run parallel with 
the open cast operation, consequently rendering a significant increase 
in tonnages to be mined monthly. 

Short-term cash flow
Bauba continued delivering run-of-mine chrome ore until the beginning 
of December 2015 whereafter Moeijelijk was placed under care 
and maintenance. In addition, cash flows were further constrained 
when in February 2016 business rescue proceedings were filed by 
a significant debtor, ASA Metals Proprietary Limited (ASA), for an 
amount of approximately R15 million including VAT. After vigorous 
legal action taken by Bauba’s directors, an agreement (the Settlement 
Agreement) was entered into with ASA, in terms of which Bauba was 
entitled to recover approximately 17 300Mt of the 20 000Mt originally 
delivered to ASA’s processing site. Subsequent and pursuant to this 
Settlement Agreement in August 2015, Bauba sold the product for a 
value of R16,4 million including VAT, removing any funding concerns 
for the next 12 months from reporting date. 

Once the open cast chrome operation commences production future 
cash flows will, as and when financially prudent, be utilised to fund the 
development of the Moeijelijk underground mine, secure additional 
chrome assets and support the development of the Group’s PGM 
assets. 

Risks
We have previously informed shareholders that Bauba A Hlabirwa 
Mining Investments Proprietary Limited has been cited as a 
respondent in a legal process initiated by Rustenburg Platinum 
Mines (RPM) against the DMR on account of the farms Genokakop 
285KT, Houtbosch 323KT and Groot Vygenboom 284KT having been 
included by the DMR in the Southern Cluster of Bauba’s prospecting 
rights. The legal process has not as yet been resolved and litigation 
as well as deliberations are continuing with all parties involved. We 
maintain our position that, as the holder of the renewed prospecting 
rights, we believe that these rights will not be set aside, such view 
being supported by the legal opinion obtained by Bauba.

Sustainability
Engagement with our local communities continues daily with 
significant progress having been made in reaching agreements for 
ongoing financial benefits to these communities. Agreements on 
training, education and upgrading of facilities have been incorporated 
in our internal social and labour plans. In addition to this and in the 
process of establishing the chrome mining operations on the farm 
Moeijelijk, certain construction work was allocated to members of the 
local communities to rebuild certain community houses. As plans and 
progress on the underground mining is made on the chrome project, 
it is envisaged that more job opportunities for the local communities 
will become available. 

Conclusion 
At the end of a particularly challenging operational year the Group 
would like to thank our team, as well as our partners and suppliers, 
for their support. The Group is well positioned to capitalise on 
improved chrome prices and the strong long-term fundamentals of 
chrome ore. Planned open cast production is expected to resume in 
the first quarter of the 2017 year as well as the development of the 
underground mine in 2017 funded from this open cast operation.

Strategic and operations report continued
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Geographical location map
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1  Nico van der Hoven
  Non-executive director and chairman of the board

  Member of the remuneration and nomination (nomination 
chairman) and technical chairman committees

Nico is a commerce and law graduate, director, businessman and 
entrepreneur with over 28 years’ experience in exploration and 
mining, founding member of Hernic Chrome, Bauba Platinum Limited 
(JSE) and GoldStone Resources Limited (AIM).

2  Martin Luyt
 Lead independent non-executive director

  Member of the audit and risk (chairman), remuneration and 
nomination (remuneration chairman), and technical committees

Martin has 28 years’ post-qualification experience. Since qualifying 
in 1988 as a chartered accountant, he has worked in London for 
Ernst & Young and Safinvest, and more recently was a director of 
the former BDO Spencer Steward (Cape Town). He established LPH 
in March 2002, with its original founding directors Nicholas Hall and 
John Proudfoot. Martin’s wide-ranging experience allows him to offer 
clients a diverse package of services, including accounting, business 
consulting, taxation and related topics, and especially trusts. He has 
been involved in a significant number of large business transactions, 
and has built up a diverse portfolio of local and international clients.

3  Sholto Dolamo
 Independent non-executive director

  Member of the audit and risk, remuneration and nomination, 
and social and ethics chairman committees

Sholto is currently Executive Head of Research and Project  
Development at the PIC. He has over 10 years’ experience in the 
mining and manufacturing industry, including six years as a research 
scientist/engineer for De Beers’ research laboratory, where he was 
instrumental in developing a variety of new materials and technologies 
for applications both above and underground in rock drilling and 
cutting. He was head of Lonmin Platinum’s research and development 
for the Precious Metals Refinery for three years. Sholto also has 
over 10 years’ experience in financial markets having worked as a 
mining investment research analyst and portfolio manager at Stanlib 
and Momentum Asset Management and the Public Investment 
Corporation. He holds a BSc (Chemistry), BTech (Ceramics Science), 
MSc (Materials Engineering) and an MBA from GIBS. 

4  Damian Smith
 Independent non-executive director

 Member of the audit and risk and technical committees

Damian is a registered Professional Natural Scientist. He has 23 years’ 
experience in mining and exploration for base metals, gold and PGMs 
but has had a particular focus on the Bushveld Complex geology for 
the last decade. Before becoming a geological consultant to various 
companies, Damian was the group geologist for Northam Platinum 
Limited. He has conducted exploration programmes on projects in 
South Africa and internationally, and has undertaken due diligence, 
evaluation and feasibility studies on a number of PGM projects. 
Damian has published extensively on economic geology. He holds 
a BSc (Hons) Geology from the University of Liverpool and an MSc 
Exploration Geology from the Camborne School of Mines.

Board of directors
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5  Dr Mathews Phosa
 Non-executive director

Dr Mathews Phosa opened the first black law practice in Nelspruit 
in 1981 and worked as a partner until he went into exile in 1985, 
where he underwent political and military training before becoming the 
Regional Commander for Umkhonto we Sizwe (MK) in Mozambique. 
He returned to South Africa in 1990 to start the negotiation process 
with the former government, whereafter he played a prominent role in 
the processes to establish a peaceful transition to a fully democratic 
South Africa.

Dr Phosa was elected as the first Premier of Mpumalanga province in 
1994 and in 1999 resigned his seat in parliament to enter a career in 
business. He returned to politics to serve as Treasurer-General of the 
National Executive Committee of the ANC between 2007 and 2012. 

Dr Phosa is Chairperson of Special Olympics South Africa, Innibos 
Arts Festival and the Council of the University of South Africa (UNISA). 

He sits on the boards of a number of listed and unlisted companies 
and serves as a trustee to the Afrikaans Handels Instituut (AHI). 

Dr Phosa has received awards for his contribution to transformation 
and empowerment and at the 25th anniversary celebrations of the 
signing of the Brazzaville Accord on Peace in Southern Africa in 
Brazzaville in February 2014, he was awarded the Congolese Order 
of Merit1. Dr Phosa has two anthologies in Afrikaans poetry to his 
name under the title “Deur die oog van ‘n naald” – some of which 
have been prescribed in the school curriculum for our national matric 
syllabus. He holds a BProc LLB (UNIN); PhD (HON) in Law (Boston 
University, USA).  

1  The Congolese Order of Merit is the highest decoration of the Republic and 
was instituted by Abbé Fulbert Youlou, first president, on 25 February 1959 to 
be awarded to heads of state and other eminent persons and for outstanding 
acts and services to the Republic. It is both a military and civilian award. 
Congo-Brazzaville is a small former French colony with a population of less 
than four million people and the order is rarely awarded.

6  King TV Thulare
 Alternate non-executive director to Dr NM Phosa

 Member of the social and ethics committee

His Majesty King Thulare III is King of the Bapedi Nation. He joined 
the mining industry in 2007 and has gained eight years’ valuable 
experience in the industry. He is currently the executive chairman of 
the KT3 group of companies and has also served as a director of 
Bauba A Hlabirwa since 22 August 2008.

7  Nick van der Hoven
  Executive director and chief executive officer

Nick is a commercial lawyer with experience in both the exploration 
and mining sector. His legal focus has primarily been in mineral law 
where he has gained substantial experience through his management 
of various mineral rights and projects.

Apart from his legal experience, he has a sound financial background 
having studied finance and participated in the management of equity 
portfolios.

He currently holds directorships in several unlisted exploration 
companies in South Africa, and is the founding member of several of 
these companies.

Nick has obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree, a Bachelor of 
Law degree and was admitted as an attorney of the High Court of 
South Africa in 2014.

8  Carl-Heinz Gernandt
 Executive and financial director

Carl-Heinz obtained a BCom Internal Auditing degree in 2002 from the 
University of Pretoria and is a member of the Association of Certified 
Chartered Accountants and Chartered Professional Accountants 
British Columbia. He previously held directorships, financial managerial 
and internal auditing positions at various listed and auditing-related 
companies. His experience within the mining sector includes roles as 
group financial manager at Jubilee Platinum Plc and financial director 
at Mine Restoration Investments Limited.
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Mineral Resources  
and Mineral Reserves report

General statement 
Bauba’s method of reporting Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 
complies with the South African Code for Reporting Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC Code), 
of 2007 as amended in 2009.

The Code sets out minimum standards, recommendations and 
guidelines for Public Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Mineral Reserves in South Africa.

The classification into Measured, Indicated and Inferred Mineral 
Resources is done by consideration of geostatistical parameters, 
spacing of boreholes, geological structures and continuity of the 
mineralisation.

Definitions
The definitions of Mineral Resources and Reserves, quoted from the 
SAMREC Code (2007, as amended in July 2009), are as follows:

The report is issued as the annual update of the Mineral Resources and Reserves 
to inform shareholders and potential investors of the mineral assets held by Bauba 
Platinum Limited as at 30 June 2016.

A “Mineral Resource” is a concentration or occurrence of material of 
economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in such form, quality and 
quantity that there are reasonable and realistic prospects for eventual 
economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity and 
other geological characteristics of a Mineral Resource are known, or 
estimated from specific geological evidence, sampling and knowledge 
interpreted from an appropriately constrained and portrayed geological 
model. Mineral Resources are subdivided, and must be so reported, 
in order of increasing confidence in respect of geoscientific evidence, 
into Inferred, Indicated or Measured categories.

An “Inferred Mineral Resource” is that part of a Mineral Resource 
for which volume or tonnage, grade and mineral content can be 
estimated with only a low level of confidence. It is inferred from 
geological evidence and sampling and assumed but not verified 
geologically or through analysis of grade continuity. It is based on 
information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations 
such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes that may be 
limited in scope or of uncertain quality and reliability.
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A “Probable Mineral Reserve” is the economically mineable material 
derived from a Measured or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It 
is estimated with a lower level of confidence than a Proved Mineral 
Reserve. It includes diluting and contaminating materials and allows 
for losses that are expected to occur when the material is mined. 
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a Pre-Feasibility Study 
for a project or a Life-of-Mine Plan for an operation must have 
been carried out, including consideration of, and modification by, 
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, 
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors. Such modifying 
factors must be disclosed.

A “Proved Mineral Reserve” is the economically mineable material 
derived from a Measured Mineral Resource. It is estimated with a high 
level of confidence. It includes diluting and contaminating materials 
and allows for losses that are expected to occur when the material 
is mined. Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a Pre-Feasibility 
Study for a project or a Life-of-Mine Plan for an operation must have 
been carried out, including consideration of, and modification by, 
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, 
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors. Such modifying 
factors must be disclosed.

Competence
Venmyn Deloitte have compiled an ‘Updated Independent Competent 
Persons’ Report on the Moeijelijk Chromite Mineral Asset’ and an 
‘Independent Competent Persons’ Report on the Platinum Group 
Metals Assets’ (the CPRs) in compliance with the SAMREC Code for 
Bauba Platinum Limited. Andy Clay, the lead competent person of the 
CPRs, hereby provides consent for the inclusion of extracts from or 
summary of the CPRs in the Bauba Platinum Limited annual report as 
required by section 12.11(i)6. 

I, Andrew Neil Clay, MSc (Geol), MSc (MinEng), DipBusM, MSAIMM, 
FAusIMM, FGSSA, MAIMA, SPE, PrSciNat, do hereby certify that  
I am a Senior Associate of Venmyn Deloitte, First Floor, Building 33, 
The Woodlands, 20 Woodlands Drive, Woodmead. I have more than  
30 years’ experience in the minerals industry, from field geology, 
research, and mineral resource management to commercial due 
diligence and evaluation of a wide range of local and international 
mineral assets. In addition, I have more than 20 years of experience 
working with commercial banks and financial institutions on 
transactions in the minerals industry, and have been involved in 
the preparation of numerous codes and rules for compliance and 
reporting in the public domain.

AN Clay
MSc (Geol), MSc (MinEng.), DipBusMan, PrSciNat, MSAIMM, 
FAusIMM, FGSSA, MAIMA, MSPE, IoD.
Senior associate
Lead competent person

30 November 2016

An “Indicated Mineral Resource” is that part of a Mineral Resource 
for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade 
and mineral content can be estimated with a reasonable level of 
confidence. It is based on information from exploration, sampling 
and testing of material gathered from locations such as outcrops, 
trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are too widely 
or inappropriately spaced to confirm geological or grade continuity 
but are spaced closely enough for continuity to be assumed.

A “Measured Mineral Resource” is that part of a Mineral Resource 
for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade 
and mineral content can be estimated with a high level of confidence. 
It is based on detailed and reliable information from exploration, 
sampling and testing of material from locations such as outcrops, 
trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are spaced 
closely enough to confirm geological and grade continuity. 

A “Mineral Reserve” is the economically mineable material derived from 
a Measured or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It includes diluting and 
contaminating materials and allows for losses that are expected to occur 
when the material is mined. Appropriate assessments to a minimum 
of a Pre-Feasibility Study for a project and a Life-of-Mine Plan for an 
operation must have been completed, including consideration of, and 
modification by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, 
marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors (the 
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be disclosed. 
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Platinum exploration 
Location, geography and access
The Bauba Platinum PGM assets lie within the Leolo mountain range in Limpopo province, approximately 40 kilometres north-northwest of the town 
of Steelpoort and 250 kilometres northeast of Johannesburg. The area has a well-developed network of national (N4), regional (R555) and district 
tarred roads and railways. The Group holds a retention permit over eight farms, as well as a chrome mining right over the Moeijelijk farm, located in 
the northeastern limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex. The PGM assets are grouped into two areas, namely the Northern and Southern clusters. 
A third area, namely the Central Cluster, has been relinquished. The Northern and Southern Cluster assets are adjacent to operating PGM mines and 
development projects on the Eastern Limb. 

Locality map

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued
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History
The Northern and Southern clusters have not been historically targeted as a mineral project and no historical owners are documented. No historical 
mining or exploration activities have been documented on these assets prior to acquisition by the Group and as such, no historical Mineral 
Resources or Mineral Reserves have been estimated. The area is well known for PGM exploration and numerous mining and exploration projects 
are located adjacent to and in the vicinity of the Bauba operations.
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Geological setting
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued

Regional and local geology 
The Bauba Platinum prospects are located on the Eastern Limb of 
the Bushveld Complex. The prospect areas are largely characterised 
by outcrop of the Main Zone, and to a lesser extent the Upper Zone 
mafic layers. The Main Zone is underlain by the Critical Zone, which 
hosts the economic Merensky and UG2 Reefs containing platinum 
group elements (PGE). 

The mineralised Merensky Reef and UG2 are magmatic and layered, 
segregation deposits containing economic quantities of PGMs and 
base metals. The PGMs are associated with chromite and base 
metal sulphides. The Merensky Reef is located between 1 600 and  
2 500 metres below surface. The UG2 Reef is located between  
300 metres and 400 metres below the Merensky Reef. These two 
reefs are the target of the PGM assets. 

Exploration activities 
The Group commenced exploration within the prospect areas for PGM 
and associated metals in 2010. Exploration included the following: 

•  The development of an electronic database based on geophysical, 
satellite, aerial photo data and imagery, geomagnetic surveys as 
well as information pertaining to neighbouring mines and projects 
available in the public domain, which was used to determine 
structural geology for the project areas. These plans have been 
developed and are upgraded as new data becomes available; and 

•  Preliminary (Phase 1) drilling programmes for each cluster, scoped 
to enable the estimation of Inferred Resources, as well as decision-
making on subsequent, focused drilling for feasibility studies. 
The table below summarises the status of the preliminary drilling 
programmes.

Cluster
Boreholes

 planned
Planned drilling

 (m)
Drilling

 commenced
Boreholes

 completed
Boreholes in

 progress
Drilling metres

 completed

Northern 10 19 200 April 2012 3 – 8 166

Southern 4 7 900 April 2010 4 – 7 736

Total 14 27 100 11* – 15 902

* Including four boreholes completed on the relinquished Central Cluster. 

Drilling on the Northern Cluster was initiated during April 2012, with ten boreholes initially planned. Three boreholes have been completed on 
the farm Schoonoord, and have intersected both the Merensky and UG2 Reefs, at depths of 1 800 metres below surface and 2 500 metres 
below surface. Intersection depths are in line with regional dip estimate. Potholed UG2 was intersected in one borehole. The other two holes 
display robust internal reef structure and base metal sulphide mineralisation. Geological modelling of the data returned from this drilling has been 
completed and has allowed the declaration of a SAMREC-compliant, discounted Inferred Resource of 9,76Moz (4E) (5,86Moz attributable to 
Bauba A Hlabirwa) over a portion of the Northern Cluster properties. Phase 2 drilling is currently in abeyance.

All drilling completed has been vertical drilling. The mineralised reefs are expected to dip at approximately 17°. Average reef width is calculated 
based on the down-hole length and true width has not been calculated as the drilling deviation is unknown at this early stage. Corrected widths 
will not have a material impact on the Mineral Resource.

Drilling on the Southern Cluster was initiated during April 2010, with four boreholes initially planned. Four boreholes have been completed and have 
intersected robust Merensky and UG2 Reefs at depths between 1 600 metres and 1 930 metres below surface (1 400 metres and 1 800 metres 
below datum), respectively. Geological modelling of the data returned from this drilling has been completed and has allowed the declaration of a 
SAMREC-compliant, discounted Inferred Resource of 7,45Moz (4E) (4,47Moz attributable to Bauba A Hlabirwa) over a portion of the Southern 
Cluster properties. Phase 2 drilling is currently in abeyance.

No feasibility studies have been completed on the PGM assets. 

During the financial year under review, no exploration activities or exploration expenditure have taken place on the platinum assets, and therefore 
no exploration results are available. 

Legal tenure and agreements
Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited (Bauba A 
Hlabirwa) was granted the renewal of their two new order prospecting 
rights, LP30/5/1/1/2/330PR (330PR) and LP30/5/1/1/2/390PR 
(390PR), for a period of three years, effective 18 July 2012. Furthermore, 
an application to amend 330PR to include the farm Houtbosch 323KT 
was lodged on 12 March 2014, the notarial execution recorded on  
27 August 2014. The prospecting rights expired on 17 July 2015 and 
Bauba A Hlabirwa applied for a retention permit over 330PR, which 
was granted on 1 September 2015. Bauba A Hlabirwa is 60% held by 
Bauba Platinum and 40% by the Bapedi Nation. 

PR330, in the Limpopo province of South Africa, was granted for the 
following farms:

•  Fisant Laagte 506KS, Zwitzerland 473KS, Indie 474KS, 
Schoonoord 462KS, Groot Vygenboom 284KT, Genokakop 
285KT and Waterkop 113KT (Waterkop 113KT excludes the 
mineral chrome).

The retention permit suspends any further obligatory expenditure and 
work on these platinum assets for a period of three years from date of 
grant of such retention permits. 

Bauba A Hlabirwa has been cited as a respondent in a legal process 
initiated by Rustenburg Platinum Mines (RPM) against the Department 
of Mineral Resources (DMR) on account of the farms Genokakop 
285KT and Groot Vygenboom 284KT having been included by DMR 
in the Southern Cluster of Bauba’s prospecting rights. The farm 
Houtbosch 323KT forms part of disputed properties as cited. The 
legal process has not as yet been resolved and litigation as well as 
deliberations are continuing with all parties involved.
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued

Sampling governance
The analytical work was conducted by ISO accredited laboratories, SetPoint (ISO/IEC 17025:2005) and Genalysis (ISO/IEC 17025:2005), located 
in Johannesburg and Perth respectively. SetPoint analysed samples for PGM, gold and base metal content using fire assay and Inductively 
Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS). Genalysis undertook fire assay and ICP-MS analyses to determine the PGM and gold content. 
Fire assay is the industry standard process for obtaining analytical gold and PGM data from ore and is considered accurate and appropriate. The 
relative density was determined for each assay sample in the assay laboratories utilising the gas pycnometer method. 

Bauba includes a minimum of 10% standards, blanks and duplicates into the sample batches prior to dispatch to the laboratories. Standards 
and blanks are certified reference material sourced from AMiS. Bauba also sends 10% of the samples for repeat analysis at a referee laboratory. 
Bauba runs an internal audit of the laboratory results, including a comparison of results to those of the referee laboratory, to check for any errors 
or bias. This is completed on each set of data returned to Bauba by the laboratory. To date, no significant errors or bias have been recorded. No 
independent audits or reviews of the sampling methodologies or QA/QC procedures have been undertaken.

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve estimation
The Mineral Resources were calculated from first principles using the average width of the reef multiplied by the reef area and relative density. 
Relative density was based on the results from the laboratory. A geological loss is then applied to estimate the tonnages. Reef width estimations 
for the Inferred Resource category are based primarily on the regional geology, neighbouring operations and the recent drilling results. The reef area 
is calculated based on the expected dip for each farm. Average reef width is based on the intersection or down-hole width. 

Assays are taken on 10cm or 20cm samples. The sample results are composited into the full reef width and a minimum mining width of 0,8 metres 
is used due to underground mining constraints. No metal equivalents have been calculated. The results are considered representative of the 
projects and no assay results have been excluded during estimation. A statistical approach was used to determine the confidence in the sample 
results and the data was found to be of sufficient quality and quantity to report an Inferred Resource over portions of the project where drill holes 
are closely spaced, and an exploration result over areas where drill holes are less closely spaced. 

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve statement
The current 4E (Pt+Pd+Rh+Au) PGM resource estimate for the Bauba prospects, discounted for geological losses, is tabulated below with 60% 
of the total resource being attributable to the Group. The Mineral Resources were compiled by Bauba’s geologists and verified and signed off 
by an independent competent person, Mr AN Clay of Venmyn Deloitte. The grades are quoted as 4PGE including platinum, palladium, rhodium 
and gold as is standard in the PGM industry. The prill split for the UG2 is 43% Pt, 40% Pd, 12% Rh and 4% Au. The prill split for MR is 50% Pt,  
30% Pd, 2% Rh and 19% Au. 

Inferred Mineral Resource for the UG2 (30 August 2013)

Cluster

Geological
 loss

% RD
Width

m

Gross
 tonnes

Mt

4PGE
 grade

g/t

4PGE
 ounces

Moz

Northern total 23,00 3,46 1,35 40,74 4,47 5,85

Southern total 24,00 3,50 1,35 28,08 4,43 4,00

Total UG2 inferred resources 23,41 3,48 1,35 68,82 4,45 9,85

Bauba attributable UG2* 23,41 3,48 1,35 41,29 4,45 5,91

* Based on the Group’s 60% attributable share.

A regional dip of 17° west has been used to calculate the reef area.

The inferred resources are quoted in-situ.
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Exploration results for the UG2 (30 August 2013)

Cluster Farm name

Geological
loss

% RD
Width

m

Gross
 tonnes

Mt

4PGE
 grade

g/t

4PGE
 ounces

Moz

Northern

Schoonoord 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  26,9 – 32,9  5,0 – 6,1  4,3 – 6,5 

Indie (portion RE) 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  36,1 – 44,1  5,0 – 6,1  5,8 – 8,7 

Indie (portion 1) 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  36,2 – 44,2  5,0 – 6,1  5,8 – 8,7 

Zwitzerland 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  46,5 – 56,9  5,0 – 6,1  7,5 – 11,2 

Fisant Laagte 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  48,0 – 58,6  5,0 – 6,1  7,7 – 11,5 

Northern total 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  193,7 – 236,7  5,0 – 6,1  31,1 – 46,5 

Northern Bauba attributable* 23,0  3,8 – 4,2  0,78 – 0,86  116,2 – 142,0  5,0 – 6,1  18,7 – 27,9 

Southern
Groot Vygenboom 24,0  3,6 – 3,9  0,85 – 0,93  20,7 – 25,3  5,1 – 6,3  3,4 – 5,1 

Genokakop 24,0  3,6 – 3,9  0,85 – 0,93  31,0 – 37,9  5,1 – 6,3  5,1 – 7,7 

Southern total 24,0  3,6 – 3,9  0,85 – 0,93  51,7 – 63,2  5,1 – 6,3  8,5 – 12,8 

Southern Bauba attributable* 24,0  3,6 – 3,9  0,85 – 0,93  31,0 – 37,9  5,1 – 6,3  5,1 – 7,7 

Total exploration results 23,2  3,7 – 4,1  0,79 – 0,88  245,5 – 299,9  5,0 – 6,1  39,7 – 59,2 

Total Bauba attributable*  147,3 – 179,9  5,0 – 6,1  23,8 – 35,5 

* Based on the Group’s 60% attributable share.

A regional dip of 17° west has been used to calculate the reef area.

The potential quantity, quality and content as expressed above are conceptual in nature.

The exploration results are quoted in-situ.

Exploration results are quoted exclusive of Inferred Mineral Resources.

Inferred Mineral Resource for the Merensky Reef (30 August 2013)

Cluster

Geological
 loss

% RD
Width

m

Gross
 tonnes

Mt

4PGE
 grade

g/t

4PGE
 ounces

Moz

Northern total 19,00 3,24 1,21 29,17 4,17 3,91

Southern total 17,00 3,25 1,02 27,38 3,92 3,45

Total Merensky Reef inferred 
resources 17,96 3,24 1,12 56,55 4,05 7,36

Bauba attributable Merensky 
Reef* 19,96 3,24 1,12 33,93 4,05 4,41

* Based on the Group’s 60% attributable share.

A regional dip of 17° west has been used to calculate the reef area.

The Inferred Resources are quoted in-situ.
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Exploration results for the Merensky Reef (30 August 2013) 

Cluster Farm name

Geological
loss

% RD
Width

m

Gross
 tonnes

Mt

4PGE
 grade

g/t

4PGE
 ounces

Moz

Northern

Schoonoord  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  34,7 – 42,4  3,9 – 4,7  4,3 – 6,4 

Indie (portion RE)  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  39,5 – 48,2  3,9 – 4,7  4,9 – 7,3 

Indie (portion 1)  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  39,5 – 48,2  3,9 – 4,7  4,9 – 7,3 

Zwitzerland  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  50,8 – 62,1  3,9 – 4,7  6,3 – 9,4 

Fisant Laagte  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  52,4 – 64,0  3,9 – 4,7  6,5 – 9,7 

Northern total  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  216,9 – 265,0  3,9 – 4,7  26,9 – 40,2 

Northern Bauba attributable*  19,0  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  130,1 – 159,0  3,9 – 4,7  16,2 – 24,1 

Southern
Groot Vygenboom  17,0  3,2 – 3,5  0,95 – 1,05  21,3 – 26,0  4,1 – 5,0  2,8 – 4,2 

Genokakop  17,0  3,2 – 3,5  0,95 – 1,05  30,3 – 37,0  4,1 – 5,0  4,0 – 6,0 

Southern total  17,0  3,2 – 3,5  0,95 – 1,05  51,5 – 62,9  4,1 – 5,0  6,8 – 10,2 

Southern Bauba attributable*  17,0  3,2 – 3,5  0,95 – 1,05  30,9 – 37,8  4,1 – 5,0  4,1 – 6,1 

Total exploration results  18,6  3,3 – 3,6  0,94 – 1,04  268,4 – 327,9  3,9 – 4,8  33,8 – 50,4 

Total Bauba attributable*  161,0 – 196,7  3,9 – 4,8  20,3 – 30,2 

* Based on the Group’s 60% attributable share.

A regional dip of 17° west has been used to calculate the reef area.

The potential quantity, quality and content as expressed above are conceptual in nature.

The exploration results are quoted in-situ.

Exploration results are quoted exclusive of Inferred Mineral Resources.

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve reconciliation
There have been no changes to Mineral Resources during the current reporting period as no new drilling or sampling has been completed on  
the project. 

Mining activities
No mining or production has taken place during the reporting period or historically. 

Material risks
The greatest risk to the project is associated with the depth below surface, which will impact on access to the deposit. As the deposit is located at 
a depth that is currently not exploited within the BC, this poses a risk to the time to development as well as increased operating and capital costs, 
relative to shallower operations. Risk is also associated with increased temperatures at depth based on the higher geothermal gradient associated 
with the Bushveld Complex.

Environmental management and funding
The Group’s platinum prospecting rights expired on 17 July 2015 and a retention permit, under section 31(1) of the Mineral and Petroleum 
Resources Development Act (Act 28 of 2002) was granted on 1 September 2015. The granting of such a retention permit suspends any further 
obligatory expenditure and work on these platinum assets for a period of three years from date of grant of such retention permits. The Environmental 
Management Programme (EMP) is currently being formulated and will be submitted within the prescribed time period, once the EMP has been 
evaluated and approved by the DMR, the DMR will accordingly advise us as to the rehabilitation guarantee quantum.

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued
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Chrome mine 
Location, geography and access
The Bauba Platinum Chromite Mine lies on the farm Moeijelijk 412KS in the Limpopo province, approximately 58 kilometres north-northwest of the 
town of Steelpoort and 270 kilometres northeast of Johannesburg. The Group holds a 30-year mining right for chromite over this farm extending 
over an area of 2 271 hectares of the northeastern limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex (BC). This mining right was successfully granted in 
July 2016 where previously a prospecting right and small scale mining permit was held. The mine is adjacent to operating chromite mines and 
development projects on the Eastern Limb. The area has a well-developed network of national (N4), regional (R37) and district tarred roads  
and railways. 
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued

History
Prior to the first prospecting right granted to Bauba A Hlabirwa in 
2006, no information regarding historical activities or ownership of the 
Moeijelijk farm are available. The farm has not been historically targeted 
as a mineral project and no historical owners, mining or exploration 
activities have been documented on the asset prior to acquisition. 
Consequently, no historical Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves 
have been estimated. Bauba became a 60% shareholder of the 
Moeijelijk Project in 2014, after a transaction with Bauba A Hlabirwa, 
Danene Trust, Kumane Trust, Math-Pin Trust, Pimlico Investment 
Trust, and Highland Trading Investments Limited (collectively, the 
Vendors). Exploration and mining has been completed on numerous 
projects in the vicinity of the Moeijelijk Mine. 

Legal tenure and agreements
The mining right for the Moeijelijk Project is held by Bauba A 
Hlabirwa Mining and was granted on 13 July 2016. The mining right 
supersedes a mining permit, No 64/2014, granted on 24 October 
2015, that allowed Bauba A Hlabirwa to mine five hectares of open 
cast mineable chromite, while the application for a permanent mining 
right was prepared. No legal proceedings or other material conditions 
are currently under way or in place.

Regional and local geology 
The Moeijelijk Project is located on the northern part of the eastern limb 
of the BC. The Moeijelijk Project is covered by recent unconsolidated 
sediments, with minimal outcrop of the underlying geology. The 
underlying geology comprises units of the Lower Zone. The more 
resistant Lower Critical Zone forms a steep hill to the southwest of 
the Moeijelijk Project, where the LG6, LG6A and LG7 sub-outcrop at 
the base of the hill. The local geology at Moeijelijk is presented below.

The LG6 and LG6A units sub-outcrop to the southeast of the 
property, striking northwest-southeast over a strike of approximately 
1,6 kilometres within the Moeijelijk farm. The LG6 and LG6A units 
are typically continuous along strike and down dip and the reefs are 
separated by pyroxenite partings. Dip is typically 20° to the west 
but varies gently along strike. Average width of the LG6 and LG6A 
combined is approximately 1,81 metres, excluding partings. Parting 
between the LG6 and LG6A varies between 0,51 and 1,16 metres.

The LG7 is generally of poorer quality and is the most variable reef. 
Moeijelijk targets the LG6A and LG6 reefs and only extracts the LG7 
where the width and grade meet the acceptable cut-off and mining 
limits. The LG7 has consequently been excluded from the Mineral 
Resource estimation.

Geological setting
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Exploration activities
Exploration by Bauba A Hlabirwa commenced in 2007 and included geological field mapping with the purpose of delineating the outcrop position, 
understanding the basic structural geology, and the continuity of the LG6 Unit over the project area. 

Percussion drilling, diamond drilling and a geophysical survey were completed on a regional basis in 2007. Of the holes completed, only two diamond 
holes were completed on the Moeijelijk Project. These have been used to confirm continuity of the LG6 and LG6A. A digital terrain model (DTM) to 
5-metre contour intervals was completed in 2007. 

In 2013, Bauba A Hlabirwa completed a total of 16 percussion drill holes. The drill holes were planned to prove continuity of the LG6 Unit along the 
strike of the orebody. Eight of the percussion drill holes intersected the LG6 Unit at a depth of less than 25 metres and eight intersected the LG6 Unit 
at a depth of up to 50 metres. In 2013, a total of three reverse circulation (RC) drill holes were completed by Bauba A Hlabirwa. 

During November 2015, Bauba commenced a diamond drilling programme and four diamond drill holes were completed. These diamond drill holes 
were planned with the intention of estimating a maiden Mineral Resource. Samples were also taken from the mining face and sent for assay and the 
mining face mapped in detail to gain an understanding of reef variability and structural impact.

No feasibility studies have been completed on the Moeijelijk Project. 
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Sampling governance
Samples prior to 2015 were analysed by UIS Analytical Services 
Proprietary Limited. The samples prior to 2015 have not been 
considered in the orebody model and consequently, these laboratory 
analyses are not described here in detail.

Bauba completed four exploration drill holes in the down dip extension 
of the project during 2015. The first hole was completed in November 
2015 and the last hole was completed in December 2015. Each of the 
boreholes was logged, photographed, split and sampled, according 
to Bauba’s exploration protocols and QA/QC procedures. A total of  
59 samples were submitted to SetPoint Laboratories for assay and SG 
determination. Of the 59 samples submitted, 31 were samples from 
the drilling programme, 22 were face samples from the open pit and 
six were CRM samples included by Bauba. These samples included 
blanks and standards. No duplicates were submitted by Bauba. The 
laboratory included a further nine QA/QC samples, including blanks, 
standards and duplicates. 

Laboratory analysis for the LG6 chromitite samples analysed for Si, 
Al, Fe, Ti, Ca, Mg, Na, K, Mn, P, Ni, Cr, V, Zn, and S. The following 
analytical methods were used for Cr, Fe and PGE analysis:

• Cr and Fe – Fused Disc and analysed by XRF;

•  Au, Pt and Pd – Pb collection, Ag spike and analysed by ICP-OES; 
and

• Rh – Pb collection, Pd collection and analysed by ICP-OES.

The results are summarised in Table 1. Exploration expenditure for 
the financial year totalled R2,2 million. Full details of the exploration 
activities have been provided in the ‘Independent Competent 
Persons’ Report on the Moeijelijk Chromite Mineral Asset’, which 
was completed in early 2016 and is available on the Bauba Platinum 
website.

Table 1: Sample values per chromitite reef

Bhid Reef
Cr2o3 

%
FeO

%
SiO2

%
Cr:Fe
ratio

True 
thickness

 m
Sg 

g/cm3

MK07

LG6A

39,20 25,00 8,50 1,38 0,39 4,44

MK08 42,32 24,31 5,29 1,53 0,48 4,43

MK09 40,22 23,95 8,05 1,48 0,52 4,29

MK10 41,10 24,70 5,40 1,46 0,41 4,44

MK07

LG6

43,73 25,40 3,86 1,52 1,00 4,45

MK08 43,19 24,58 5,18 1,55 1,45 4,41

MK09 42,76 25,26 4,23 1,49 1,40 4,41

MK10 43,21 25,22 4,15 1,51 1,59 4,48

Bauba runs an internal audit of the laboratory results to check for any errors or bias. This is completed on each set of data returned to Bauba 
by the laboratory. To date, no significant errors or bias have been recorded. No independent audits or reviews of the sampling methodologies or  
QA/QC procedures have been undertaken.

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued



   Bauba Platinum Limited | Integrated annual report 2016   19

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve estimation
The orebody model and a 2D block model were prepared in 
Datamine™ Studio 3 software. The model takes into account only 
the four diamond drill holes completed during the 2015 drilling 
campaign. The pit model has been used to constrain the boundary 
between open pit and underground. Production is typically based on 
a 40-metre highwall but there is opportunity to mine to a 50-metre 
highwall where the chromite ore price conditions and access allow. 
The percussion and RC drill holes and three older diamond drill holes 
have been excluded from the modelling as the core is not available for 
verification and the diamond drill holes were of poor quality. 

The model has focused on the LG6A and LG6 reefs and is limited to 
the northeast by the sub-outcrop of the reefs at surface. The model is 
also limited to the south and west along the Moeijelijk farm boundary. 
The physical and quality parameters of the LG6A and LG6 reefs were 
modelled. All parameters were plotted and visually inspected to ensure 
they were reasonable for geological interpretation prior to completion 
of the orebody model. The LG7 has been excluded from modelling 
as it is currently not mined economically and it was not sampled in 
drill hole MK10. All of the intersected reefs were considered to be 
continuous between the drill holes as no significant structures have 
been noted during exploration or mining.

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve statement
A maiden Mineral Resource was declared in April 2016. Mineral 
Resources are presented as in situ tonnes after geological losses have 
been applied. Geological losses were determined using the estimated 
geological losses from the in-pit geological mapping as well as known 
geological losses expected in the eastern Bushveld.

No cut-off grade has been used during Mineral Resource estimation. 
All data used in the resource estimation process is validated against 
the original sample data each time the estimation is updated. Any 
errors are corrected and verified prior to updating the model. No 
exploration results have been excluded from the Mineral Resource 
statement. 

The prototype model was set up with a block size of 50m x 50m in 
the XY direction. The block models were subcelled in the XY direction 
to better represent the lease area boundary, depleted resources and 
outcrop positions of the chromitite reefs.

The Mineral Resource classification criteria are based on experience 
from similar projects. The Mineral Resource classification is based on 
a drill hole distance grid to determine the various radius distances 
applied to define each resource class. The radius distances are also 
used to delineate the Mineral Resource classification from an open 
mining face. 

The Mineral Resources are summarised in Table 3 and Table 4, 
which illustrate the Mineral Resource with a 40-metre highwall and a 
50-metre highwall for the open pit, respectively. No Mineral Reserves 
have been estimated for the Moeijelijk Project.

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve reconciliation
A maiden Mineral Resource was declared for the Moeijelijk Project 
in April 2016. No previous Mineral Resources or Reserve have been 
declared for the Moeijelijk Project. The Mineral Resources have 
changed from no Mineral Resources declared to a Mineral Resource 
totalling 0,27Mt at 43,43% Cr2O3 open cast material and 7,01Mt at 
41,26% Cr2O3 underground material, totalling 7,28Mt at 40,6% Cr2O3 
at a 40-metre highwall. A 50-metre highwall case has also been 
presented, with the same total tonnage and grade, but a larger open 
cast section to demonstrate the possibility of extending the pit to a 
50-metre highwall.

Mining activities
Bauba A Hlabirwa commenced mining activities on the Moeijelijk 
Project in February 2015. The Moeijelijk Project is an open pit, truck 
and shovel operation where mining is conducted and managed by 
contract miners, Zizwe Opencast Mining Proprietary Limited. The 
mine is targeting the LG7, LG6, LG6A and LG6B seams. During the 
reporting period, a total of 105 909,11 tonnes run-of-mine (ROM) has 
been produced.

Production
Production commenced in February 2015 and the operation was 
placed on care and maintenance in January 2016 when ASA Metals 
was placed in business rescue. Material with a minimum grade of 
38% was trucked directly to ASA Metals based on an agreement 
in place. Production within the reporting period is summarised in  
Table 2. 

Table 2: Monthly production summary for 2015

Month

LG6A and LG6
 tonnage

t

LG7
tonnage

t

Average
production grade

Cr2O3 %

July 2015 21 497,00 –  40,77 

August 2015 20 231,00 –  39,88 

September 2015 13 883,52 6 330,18  39,40 

October 2015 20 403,70 5 308,61  41,06 

November 2015 17 754,57 40,53  40,91 

December 2015 460,00 –  40,08 

Total/average 94 229,79 11 679,32 40,46

During the previous financial year, production commenced in February and a total of 79 224,42 tonnes ROM with an average grade of 38,71% 
was produced.
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Material risks
Many of the technical and infrastructural risks associated with the Chrome Project have been minimised due to its favourable location with respect 
to an established mining region. The Moeijelijk Project is located in a very well-understood geological setting that is currently supporting numerous 
mining operations, and therefore has a well-understood geology over which mining claims have already been issued. 

The greatest risks to the Project are the location of structural features and low commodity prices. Structural features such as faults and dykes are 
not well understood from exploration drilling. It is expected that further drilling will not improve confidence in locating these features and reliance 
is placed upon the geomagnetic survey. The low commodity prices are affecting chrome purchasers and limiting the market to sell the product to. 
This is impacting operators on an industry-wide basis

Table 3: Mineral Resources for the Moeijelijk at a 40m highwall (Venmyn Deloitte, 2016)

Mining 
method Reef

Resource
category

Tonnes 
mt

Reef width
 m

Cr2O3 
%

FeO
 %

SiO2 
%

Cr:Fe 
ratio

Sg 
g/m3

Opencast*

LG6A

Measured 0,04 0,47 40,76 24,30 7,09  1,48  4,37 
Indicated 0,01 0,51 40,29 23,99 7,90  1,48  4,30 
Inferred 0,02 0,47 40,72 24,30 6,93  1,47  4,37 
Total 0,07 0,48 40,66 24,24 7,20  1,48  4,36 

LG6

Measured 0,11 1,35 43,10 25,07 4,46  1,51  4,42 
Indicated 0,04 1,40 42,78 25,25 4,25  1,49  4,42 
Inferred 0,06 1,42 43,05 25,14 4,35  1,51  4,43 
Total 0,20 1,38 43,03 25,12 4,39  1,51  4,43 

Total measured 0,14 1,13 42,50 24,87 5,14 1,50  4,41 
Total indicated 0,05 1,17 42,13 24,92 5,21 1,49  4,39 
Total inferred 0,08 1,20 42,51 24,95 4,94 1,50  4,42 
Grand total opencast 0,27 1,16 42,43 24,90 5,09 1,50 4,41

Underground 

LG6A

Measured 0,70 0,45 40,68 24,49 6,90  1,46  4,40 
Indicated 0,50 0,45 40,74 24,47 6,68  1,47  4,40 
Inferred 0,47 0,44 40,94 24,49 6,14  1,47  4,40 
Total 1,68 0,45 40,77 24,49 6,62  1,47  4,40 

LG6

Measured 2,10 1,34 43,23 25,11 4,37  1,52  4,44 
Indicated 1,59 1,41 43,17 25,15 4,32  1,51  4,44 
Inferred 1,64 1,51 43,13 25,18 4,26  1,51  4,46 
Total 5,33 1,41 43,18 25,14 4,32  1,51  4,44 

Total measured 2,81 2,81 42,59 24,95 5,01 1,50  4,43 
Total indicated 2,09 2,09 42,58 24,98 4,89 1,50  4,43 
Total inferred 2,11 2,11 42,64 25,02 4,68 1,50  4,44 
Grand total underground 7,01 1,18 42,60 24,98 4,87 1,50 4,43

 Combined 

LG6A

Measured 0,74 0,45 40,68 24,48 6,91  1,46  4,40 
Indicated 0,52 0,45 40,73 24,46 6,71  1,47  4,39 
Inferred 0,49 0,44 40,93 24,49 6,17  1,47  4,40 
Total 1,75 0,45 40,76 24,48 6,65  1,47  4,40 

LG6

Measured 2,21 1,34 43,22 25,11 4,38  1,52  4,44 
Indicated 1,62 1,41 43,16 25,15 4,31  1,51  4,44 
Inferred 1,70 1,51 43,12 25,17 4,26  1,51  4,45 
Total 5,54 1,41 43,17 25,14 4,32  1,51  4,44 

Total measured 2,95 1,12 42,59 24,95 5,01 1,50  4,43 
Total indicated 2,14 1,18 42,57 24,98 4,89 1,50  4,43 
Total inferred 2,20 1,27 42,63 25,02 4,69 1,50  4,44 
Grand total 7,28 1,18 42,60 24,98 4,88 1,50 4,43

Notes:

* Calculated at a 40m highwall.

Mineral Resources are reported as in-situ tonnes. Mineral Resources are reported as inclusive of Mineral Reserves. No cut-off grade applied. No potential 
mining dilution factors applied. Apparent computational errors due to rounding down.

Geological losses applied to the Mineral Resources:
• Measured – 5%
• Indicated – 10%
• Inferred – 20%

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report continued
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Table 4: Mineral Resources for the Moeijelijk at a 50m highwall (Venmyn Deloitte, 2016)

Mining 
method Reef

Resource
category

Tonnes 
mt

Reef width
 m

Cr2O3 
%

FeO
 %

SiO2 
%

Cr:Fe 
ratio

Sg 
g/m3

Opencast*

LG6A

Measured  0,06  0,47  40,79  24,30  7,00  1,48  4,37 
Indicated  0,02  0,50  40,38  24,07  7,61  1,48  4,32 
Inferred  0,03  0,47  40,76  24,34  6,77  1,47  4,37 
Total  0,11  0,48  40,70  24,27  7,06  1,48  4,36 

LG6

Measured  0,17  1,37  43,09  25,08  4,45  1,51  4,43 
Indicated  0,07  1,43  42,84  25,24  4,24  1,49  4,42 
Inferred  0,10  1,44  43,06  25,15  4,32  1,51  4,44 
Total  0,33  1,40  43,03  25,13  4,37  1,51  4,43 

Total measured  0,22  1,14  42,50  24,88  5,10  1,50  4,41 
Total indicated  0,09  1,19  42,21  24,94  5,10  1,49  4,40 
Total inferred  0,13  1,22  42,53  24,96  4,89  1,50  4,42 
Grand total opencast  0,45  1,17  42,45  24,92  5,04  1,50  4,41 

Underground 

LG6A

Measured  0,68  0,45  40,67  24,50  6,91  1,46  4,40 
Indicated  0,50  0,45  40,74  24,48  6,67  1,47  4,40 
Inferred  0,46  0,44  40,94  24,50  6,13  1,47  4,40 
Total  1,64  0,45  40,77  24,49  6,62  1,47  4,40 

LG6

Measured  2,04  1,34  43,23  25,11  4,37  1,52  4,44 
Indicated  1,56  1,41  43,17  25,14  4,32  1,51  4,44 
Inferred  1,60  1,51  43,13  25,18  4,26  1,51  4,46 
Total  5,20  1,41  43,18  25,14  4,32  1,51  4,44 

Total measured  2,73  1,12  42,59  24,96  5,00  1,50  4,43 
Total indicated  2,06  1,18  42,58  24,98  4,88  1,50  4,43 
Total inferred  2,06  1,27  42,64  25,02  4,67  1,50  4,44 
Grand total underground  6,84  1,18  42,60  24,98  4,87  1,50  4,43 

 Combined 

LG6A

Measured  0,74  0,45  40,68  24,48  6,91  1,46  4,40 
Indicated  0,52  0,45  40,73  24,46  6,71  1,47  4,39 
Inferred  0,49  0,44  40,93  24,49  6,17  1,47  4,40 
Total  1,75  0,45  40,76  24,48  6,65  1,47  4,40 

LG6

Measured  2,21  1,34  43,22  25,11  4,38  1,52  4,44 
Indicated  1,63  1,41  43,16  25,15  4,31  1,51  4,44 
Inferred  1,70  1,51  43,12  25,17  4,26  1,51  4,45 
Total  5,54  1,41  43,17  25,14  4,32  1,51  4,44 

Total measured  2,95  1,12  42,59  24,95  5,01  1,50  4,43 
Total indicated  2,14  1,18  42,57  24,98  4,89  1,50  4,43 
Total inferred  2,19  1,27  42,63  25,02  4,69  1,50  4,44 
Grand total  7,28  1,18  42,60  24,98  4,88  1,50  4,43 

Notes:

* Calculated at a 50m highwall.

Mineral Resources are reported as in-situ tonnes. Mineral Resources are reported as inclusive of Mineral Reserves. No cut-off grade applied. No potential 
mining dilution factors applied. Apparent computational errors due to rounding down.

Geological losses applied to the Mineral Resources:
• Measured – 5%
• Indicated – 10%
• Inferred – 20%

Environmental management and funding
Bauba A Hlabirwa has secured its mining permit on the Moeijelijk Project by filing a scoping report for the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
to the DMR on 11 May 2015, which was accepted on 22 May 2016. A water use licence application was submitted on 12 August 2015 and an 
official acknowledgement of receipt was received on 12 October 2015.

Bauba A Hlabirwa has made provision for both scheduled and unscheduled closure of the mining operations. Closure and rehabilitation operations 
allow for the four drill hole drill sites and the open pit. The provision also accounts for closure and rehabilitation operations being performed 
according to the requirements of the EMP.

Bauba A Hlabirwa has filed a rehabilitation guarantee for its mining right application to the value of R6 054 152. Based on the revised rehabilitation 
and closure costs, the updated financial accrual is calculated at R5 551 535, resulting in an excess of R502 617.
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Corporate governance, ethics and 
stakeholder engagement

Introduction
Good corporate governance is more than merely applying governance 
rules; it extends to ensuring that there are effective relationships with all 
key stakeholders so that the business has a proper understanding of 
its impact and gives due consideration to the non-financial aspects of 
business performance that have the potential to influence sustainable 
economic growth and success. 

The board is responsible for corporate governance and oversees 
the Group’s ongoing alignment with the governance and reporting 
principles set out in King III. The directors are of the opinion that 
the Group has complied with King III in the past year, except where 
otherwise indicated. The board will ensure that the principles and 
best practice recommendations that are applicable to the Group are 
implemented and complied with in the new financial year, while taking 
into account the practicalities of the environment in which the Group 
operates, the financial cost of compliance and the need to take action 
as appropriate. See Bauba’s website (www.bauba.co.za) for the 
summary of the Group’s compliance with the 75 principles of King III.

Board of directors 
The board has a unitary structure and has developed a formal 
framework for delegation of authority to ensure a proper balance of 
power amongst the directors so that no one director has unfettered 
powers of decision-making. 

The board is responsible for the appointment of the chief executive  
officer (CEO) and there is a clear division of roles between the 
chairman and the CEO and these roles are not held by the same 
person. The chairman, who is a non-executive director, oversees the 
effective functioning of the board. In his leadership role, he is involved 
in setting the strategic direction of the Group and has been tasked 
with ensuring effective corporate governance practices. Mr Martin 
Luyt was appointed as lead independent non-executive director with 
effect from 30 May 2015. The CEO is answerable for the day-to-day 
affairs of the Group, which include implementing and monitoring the 
strategy of the Group in a responsible manner.

Executive directors are appointed by the board to oversee the daily 
functioning of the Group and are held accountable through regular 
reporting to the board. The non-executive directors, the majority of 
whom are independent, provide the board with advice and experience 
that is independent of the executive. They play a critical role as board 
representatives on the various sub-committees. 

The board operates in accordance with a board charter and is 
accountable for ensuring financial and legislative compliance. It is 
required to make decisions on matters of a material nature, including 
the Group’s financial and operating results, major acquisitions and 
disposals, and large capital expenditure. It is also incumbent upon 
the directors to ensure that sustainable development is an integral 
part of the business strategy. The appropriate risk management 
and governance systems are in place and the Group operates as a 
responsible and ethical corporate citizen. 

The board generally meets four times a year, with additional meetings 
if required. During the year under review the board met three 
times as the Group placed its only operating asset under care and 
maintenance in January 2016. The board felt this was appropriate to 

perform its function adequately. The meetings follow a formal agenda 
to ensure that all substantive matters are addressed and information 
relevant to the meetings is supplied to board members in advance so 
that they can make informed and reasoned decisions. The directors 
have unrestricted access to information about Bauba Platinum and 
may seek independent professional advice on matters concerning the 
affairs of the Group if required. 

The executive directors have contracts of employment with the Group 
which can be terminated with two months’ notice.  

Board composition
The board consists of two executive directors and five non-executive 
directors, three (60%) of whom are independent. As part of the 
Group’s long-term strategy to actively involve the Bapedi Nation at a 
strategic, decision-making level, King Thulare V Thulare serves as an 
alternate to Dr Mathews Phosa.

Independent non-executive directors are directors who have not been 
employed by the Group for the preceding three years, and are in no 
way related to the Group or to any shareholder, supplier, customer or 
other director of the Group in a way that would lead to their integrity, 
impartiality or objectivity being compromised. They have and will 
continue to exert significant influence at meetings. 

As a junior exploration and mining company, the directors are of 
the opinion that the current composition and structure of the Bauba 
Platinum board is appropriate. There is a policy and formal and 
transparent procedures in place to appoint directors to the board 
so as to ensure that the appropriate mix of skills and experience is 
maintained. 

The non-executive directors do not have fixed terms of appointment. 
One third of the non-executive directors are subject, by rotation, to 
retirement and re-election by shareholders, in accordance with the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. Messrs Mathews Phosa, 
Martin Luyt and Damian Smith retire by rotation and are available for  
re-election at the annual general meeting to be held on  
14 December 2016. For a full list of the board members and their 
qualifications, see pages 4 and 5.  

Board committees
Certain functions of the board have been delegated to various 
committees which operate according to charters approved by the 
board. These committees in no way diminish the accountability of the 
board and their effectiveness remains a board responsibility. Members 
of the audit and risk committee are elected each year by shareholders 
at the annual general meeting while members of the remuneration 
and nomination committee, the social and ethics committee and the 
technical committee are elected by the board. 

Audit and risk committee
In line with the requirements of King III, the function of the audit and 
risk committee now extends beyond financial reporting and it is the 
responsibility of the board to ensure that committee members have 
the necessary skills to fulfil this broader governance role. 

The audit and risk committee is made up of three suitably skilled 
and experienced independent non-executive directors. The current 
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members are Mr Martin Luyt (chairman), Mr Damian Smith and  
Mr Sholto Dolamo.

The audit and risk committee is required to meet at least twice a year 
in accordance with King III. The chairman of the board, the CEO, the 
financial director and the external auditors attend the audit and risk 
committee meetings by invitation. Three audit and risk committee 
meetings were held during the reporting year.

The committee has adopted formal terms of reference set out in a 
charter and approved by the board, which include all its statutory 
responsibilities to shareholders in terms of the Companies Act of 
South Africa (Act 71 of 2008) (Companies Act) and the provisions  
of King III. 

The committee assists the board by advising on financial and 
sustainability reporting and maintaining oversight of the risk 
management process, internal financial controls, external audit 
matters and the regulatory compliance of the Group. The committee 
applies a combined assurance process and receives assurance  
from management, the external auditors and independent technical 
service providers.

The committee ensures that the requisite risk management 
culture, policies, practices and systems are in place relevant to the 
Group’s level of exposure. The day-to-day risk management is the 
responsibility of the management team. Bauba Platinum has a risk 
register in place which lists the material issues to which the business 
is exposed, as well as strategies to mitigate their impact. The risk 
register is discussed and updated at every audit and risk committee 
meeting, and then presented to all directors at the board meetings. 
For additional information on the specific duties performed by the 
audit and risk committee, refer to the report on page 35.   

Due to the size of the Group, it is not feasible to employ a full-
time internal auditor at this stage. The board believes that the 
situation can be supported due to the hands-on involvement of the 
directors in all subsidiaries. The external auditor has carried most 
of the responsibility for risk assessments on the Group’s financial 
statements in the reporting period. The chairman and the audit and 
risk committee maintain a level of oversight by reviewing the Group’s 
financial statements on an ad hoc basis. 

The audit and risk committee is required by King III to provide 
assurance to the board on information technology (IT) governance. 
The current IT systems are in line with the performance objectives of 
the Group, which operates standard office, accounting and geological 
packages. The IT support is outsourced to an independent service 
provider. However, the Group does carry out an IT risk assessment 
from time to time, which identifies any potential threats to the IT 
system. An ongoing review process ensures that the Group maintains 
an adequate and effective IT system and that its information assets 
are properly safeguarded. The board is responsible for IT governance 
and the approval of any significant IT expenditure. The management 
team is responsible for the implementation of IT governance within 
the Group.

The audit and risk committee monitors the available cash resources of 
the Group having regard for the capital commitments of its exploration 
and mining programme and its other cash requirements. Having 
reviewed liquidity and solvency, the committee has concluded that 
the going concern basis of reporting is appropriate for the Group. 

As required by paragraph 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements,  
the audit and risk committee has satisfied itself that the financial  
director, Mr Carl-Heinz Gernandt, has the appropriate experience and 
expertise to fill that position.

The audit committee considered and discussed this integrated report 
with both the management of the Group and the external auditors. 
During this process the committee:

• evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions;

•  evaluated the completeness of the financial statements and 
sustainability discussions; and 

• discussed the treatment of significant and unusual transactions.

The audit and risk committee has reviewed the annual financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 and believes that they 
comply in all material respects with the statutory requirements of the 
various legislation governing reporting and disclosure. The committee 
has recommended to the board that the annual financial statements 
be adopted and approved.

Remuneration and nomination committee
The remuneration and nomination committee consists of three 
suitably skilled and experienced non-executive directors, Mr Nico 
van der Hoven (nomination chairman), Mr Martin Luyt (remuneration 
chairman) and Mr Sholto Dolamo. The committee met once during 
the reporting year. 

The committee establishes the overall principles of remuneration and 
considers, reviews and approves the Group’s remuneration strategy. 
It is important to ensure that the levels of reward are competitive and 
support the performance which is required to achieve the Group’s 
business objectives while taking into account the Group’s particular 
financial circumstances. 

The non-executive remuneration is made up of a fee for attending 
meetings, in line with the King III recommendations. Remuneration for 
individual directors is detailed on page 65. The remuneration of the 
non-executive directors for the following 12 months will be presented 
to shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting.

Furthermore, the remuneration and nomination committee is 
responsible for developing policy around the appointment of 
directors, investigates potential board members for necessary skills 
and competence and makes appropriate recommendations to the 
board. This function of the committee is chaired by Mr Nico van der 
Hoven and Mr Martin Luyt.

Remuneration policy
The Group has developed a remuneration policy in line with King III. All 
components of the reward strategy, including the basic salary and the 
short-term and long-term performance-based incentive payments, 
are aligned to the strategic direction and business-specific value 
drivers of Bauba Platinum.

The key principles of the remuneration policy are to:

•  attract and retain competent employees that enhance business 
performance;

•  reward, recognise and give appreciation for superior performance;
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•  direct employees’ energies and activities towards the key business 
goals;

•  link the Group and individual performance to reward; and 

•  apply an integrated and holistic approach to the reward strategy, 
encompassing a balanced mix of:

 – basic salary;

 –  short-term incentive bonus rewarding both Group and individual 
performance; and

 –  long-term share-based incentive scheme, based on 
performance measures. 

The reward strategy and each of its components are dynamic and 
are therefore reviewed regularly to ensure that Bauba Platinum’s 
remuneration policy keeps pace with market practices, and the 
Group’s evolving organisational context and objectives. 

Remuneration mix: The executives’ total remuneration consists of 
a basic salary, defined as the employment cost to the Company, 
an annual performance-linked bonus and a long-term share-based 
incentive scheme. This will ensure that there is the necessary balance 
between fixed and performance-related remuneration as well as 
elements linked to short-term performance and those related to 
longer-term growth in shareholder value. 

Guaranteed package: This is the total guaranteed annual 
employment cost to the Company associated with the employment 
of an individual. It is structured on the basis of an all-inclusive salary 
package; no separate medical aid and pension fund contributions are 
paid. A cost of living increase in the basic salary is considered by the 
remuneration committee on an annual basis and implemented from  
1 July in the applicable year, if the financial position of the Group 
allows for such an increase.

Factors that are taken into consideration in determining the 
recommended annual increase include: the consumer price index 
(CPI), mining inflation, retention strategies, industry performance, 
projected growth, contractual arrangements and affordability.

Short-term incentive: This is a short-term incentive plan for 
which rewards are determined against the achievement of a set of 
annual Group and individual performance targets determined by 
the remuneration committee and approved by the board. These 
incentives are offered at the appropriate level within the Group and 
are paid in cash. The maximum payable under this scheme is 25% 
of annual salary.

The choice of performance measures considers the impact of factors 
outside the control of executives. Where necessary the short-term 
incentives are benchmarked against competitors in terms of amounts 
actually earned as well as amounts that could potentially be earned by 
meeting various target thresholds.

The incentive architecture provides for:

•  Company and individual performance related to a specific time 
period;

• meaningful performance measures;

•  annual revision by the remuneration committee to ensure the 
continuing appropriateness of performance measures, the 

weighting of measures and the split between individual and Group 
performance;

•  where appropriate, the inclusion of non-financial measures; and

•  the weighting of performance measures to vary depending on 
seniority, relevance, and ability to influence the outcome.

No short-term incentives were awarded in the financial year under 
review due to affordability from the Moeijelijk Mine being placed under 
care and maintenance.

Long-term incentive plan (LTIP): A long-term share-based scheme, 
based on performance, was approved by shareholders at the 
annual general meeting held on 5 December 2013. The intention 
is to implement the scheme, to incentivise executives and selected 
employees of the Group. The award under the scheme will be 
governed by the board of directors and the remuneration committee 
and is subject to JSE and shareholders’ approval. 

The remuneration levels are benchmarked against a comparator 
group of South African small and mid-cap JSE-listed entities, as 
well as junior mining and exploration companies. The Group makes 
use of the services of an independent consultant to assist with the 
benchmarking exercise.

In terms of the LTIP, executives and selected employees of the Group 
may be offered annually a weighted combination of:

•  allocations of share appreciation rights (akin to net settled share 
options);

• awards of performance shares; and

• grants of restricted shares.

Offers of these shares will be governed by and reflect Bauba 
Platinum’s reward strategy – pay mix, in which the “expected value” of 
incentive reward is set for defined categories of executives and senior 
management. The LTIP will provide for the inclusion of a number of 
performance conditions, designed to align the interests of participants 
with those of Bauba Platinum’s shareholders and to reward Group 
and individual performance, looking beyond factors which could 
influence this such as the performance of the economy or the mining 
sector in which the Group operates. 

The performance share element makes provision for annual 
conditional awards of performance shares to be made to executives 
and selected employees. The performance shares will vest on the 
third anniversary of their award, to the extent that the Group has met 
specified performance criteria, as determined by the remuneration 
committee, over the intervening period.

The share appreciation right element is similar in architecture to a 
share option plan, but with a number of variations to bring it in line 
with best practice in the mining industry and with the remuneration 
guidelines of King III. Annual allocations of share appreciation rights 
will be made to executives and selected employees. They will be 
available to be settled in equal thirds on the third, fourth and fifth 
anniversaries but need not be exercised until the seventh anniversary, 
at which time they will need to be exercised failing which they will 
lapse. On settlement, the value accruing to participants will be the 
appreciation of Bauba Platinum’s share price.

It is envisaged that the LTIP will be implemented in the 2017 financial 
year.
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Social and ethics committee
In line with the requirements of King III, the board has appointed 
a social and ethics committee to ensure the highest standards of 
business integrity in accordance with the relevant legislation and 
global best practice.

The committee consists of three non-executive directors,  
Mr Sholto Dolamo (chairman), King Thulare V Thulare and  
Mr Nico van der Hoven. The committee met once during the  
reporting year. 

The role of the social and ethics committee is to:

•  ensure that the Group’s code of ethics is upheld at all levels of the 
organisation;

•  assist the board of directors in ensuring that the Group is and 
remains a committed, socially responsible corporate citizen;

•  monitor, support, advise and provide guidance on the effectiveness 
of management’s efforts in respect of sustainable development 
and social and ethics-related matters;

•  to the best of its ability, ensure that contractors and suppliers have 
policies and practices congruent with the Group’s own social and 
ethics policies;

•  review content in the integrated report that is relevant to the social 
and ethics committee, prior to review by the audit committee; and

•  identify the social and ethics risks and opportunities and provide 
assurance to the board that the necessary mitigation measures 
are in place.

Technical committee
The technical committee consists of three non-executive directors,  
Mr Nico van der Hoven (chairman), Mr Martin Luyt and Mr Damian 
Smith, and two executive directors, Mr Syd Caddy, who was 
replaced by Mr Nick van der Hoven, and Mr Carl-Heinz Gernandt. 
The committee met twice in the reporting year.  

The primary responsibility of the technical committee is to unlock 
shareholder value through the delivery of the Group’s mining and 
exploration objectives in a way that is safe and responsible towards 
the environment and local communities. The following duties fall to 
the technical committee\:

•  guide the development of the technical, mining and exploration 
strategies for the effective exploration, evaluation and development 
of its resources and oversee the implementation thereof;

•  ensure that the Group has the requisite technical skills and that 
training programmes are aligned with the growth and development 
of the Group;

•  assist the board in discharging its responsibility in the management 
of technical risk;

•  ensure the adoption of sound principles in managing safety, health 
and environmental risk; and

•  brief the board on developments in the fields of geology, 
engineering, mining, metallurgy, and environmental, health and 
safety management in so far as they impact on the Group’s ability 
to execute its business strategy efficiently and effectively.

Attendance register of committee meetings

Board Audit and risk

Nomination
and

Remuneration Technical
Social and 

ethics

Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended

Number of meetings held 3 3 1 2 1

NPJ van der Hoven 3 n 1 2 1

M Luyt 3 3 1 2 n

SM Dolamo 1 2 1 n 1

MW Kholeka* 1 2 n n n

Dr M Phosa 2 n n n n

DS Smith 2 0 n 2 n

TV Thulare 2 n n n 1

SJM Caddy* 3 n n 2 1

CH Gernandt 3 n n 2 n

NW van der Hoven 3 n n 2 n

n = non-member
* resigned
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Board expertise and training
The collective experience of the directors of Bauba Platinum reflects 
a wide and balanced range of financial, technical and commercial 
skills that enable the board to effectively fulfil its mandate in terms 
of ensuring the economic sustainability of the Group and giving due 
consideration to the social and environmental impacts of its activities. 

Newly appointed directors are provided with a basic introduction 
to various aspects of the Group, including an overview of current 
strategies, business challenges and important issues, and are required 
to attend a formal directors’ training programme with a professional 
organisation if they have not previously served as a director of a listed 
company. 

A training session was conducted covering the general JSE rules and 
fiduciary duties of directors. The board members were also provided 
with relevant technical and legal updates as part of their board 
meeting communication during the year.  

Company secretary
The board has considered the competence, qualifications and 
experience of the company secretary, which is an independent 
entity, Merchantec Proprietary Limited. The board is satisfied with the 
secretarial function that the relationship is at arm’s length as well as 
with the experience of the senior members of the company secretary.

The board is responsible for the appointment of the company 
secretary. Bauba Platinum uses an external registered service provider 
and the audit and risk committee has validated the competence of 
the company secretary. The company secretary plays a pivotal role 
in guiding and assisting the board on the delivery of its mandate 
and is expected to be available to the chairman and individual board 
members at all times. The company secretary is responsible for 
ensuring compliance with all statutory requirements, including the 
JSE Listings Requirements, and is required to bring to the immediate 
attention of the board any changes to legislation which may impact on 
the Group, its directors, management and employees. The company 
secretary administers and records the business of the directorate and 
ensures that the board charter and the charters of the individual board 
committees are kept up to date.

Share dealing
The JSE Listings Requirements specifically prohibit directors and 
senior employees from dealing in the Company’s shares during a 
prohibited or “closed” period. A prohibited period is any period when 
there exists any matter which constitutes unpublished price sensitive 
information in relation to the issuer’s securities. A closed period is 
the period following a financial reporting date (quarterly, half yearly or 
annually) and the publication of the results or during a period when 
an issuer is trading under a cautionary announcement. As a proactive 
measure, the company secretary will advise the chairman when the 
Company has entered a closed period and this will be communicated 
to all the board members.

Directors have to obtain prior approval from the chairman of the board 
to trade and are required to report such dealings to the company 
secretary within three days thereof. In terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, any share transactions involving directors are to be 
published on the Securities Exchange News Service (SENS) within  
24 hours of such notification. A register of share dealings by directors 
is maintained by the company secretary and reviewed by the board.

Conflict of interest 
All directors, executives and defined employees are required to declare 
all conflicts of interest that may exist as a result of their association 
with any other company at every board meeting. Furthermore, the 
company secretary maintains a register of all directors and their 
involvement with other companies which is checked regularly against 
the Company and Intellectual Property Commission’s database. 
If a director becomes aware of any conflict of interest, he or she 
is required to immediately disclose such conflict, will not have any 
voting rights on the conflicted matter and will be required to leave the 
meeting should such a matter be put to the vote. 

Internal control and risk management 
The board is responsible for ensuring that a comprehensive system 
of control exists and is effectively managed so that the risks affecting 
the business are identified and appropriate action is taken by 
management to mitigate these risks. It is the board’s responsibility, 
with the considered guidance of the audit and risk committee, to 
review the effectiveness of these systems on a regular basis and to 
ensure their maturity as the business grows. 

It is important for the board to understand the consequences of non-
compliance in any particular area. 

Corporate governance, ethics and stakeholder engagement 
continued
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Key risks identified by the directors for the Group during the reporting period include:

Risk Mitigation

Raising the necessary finances to 
continue with platinum exploration 
activities and development of the 
Moeijelijk underground chrome mine

•  Ongoing engagement with existing and potential investors so that they understand the Group, its 
strategic objectives, delivery and performance

•  Managing the drilling and Moeijelijk underground development programme within the financial 
constraints

•  Exploitation of the low-cost, open cast Moeijelijk chrome operation which can provide Bauba with a 
steady cash flow to advance the exploration of our PGM projects for the foreseeable future, fund the 
underground development and to distribute part of the generated cash as dividends

Impact of weak global economic 
conditions and commodity prices on 
the chrome and platinum market

• Understanding the chrome and platinum market in the medium and long term

•  Active monitoring of the chrome price and market indicators with swift decision-making to reduce 
cost and preserve cash if necessary  

•  Ongoing engagement with existing and potential investors so that they understand the development 
of the Group in the context of the long-term fundamentals of the PGM and chrome market

Impact of current SA mining sector 
challenges on investor confidence

•  Ongoing engagement with existing and potential investors so that they understand the challenges 
and what is being done to address them

Retaining and securing additional 
prospecting rights

 •  Ensuring compliance with the requirements of the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development 
Act (MPRDA)

• Engagement with relevant stakeholders on specific risk issues (eg review application)

Safety  •  Ensure mining contractors put safety first and foremost, focusing their delivery around safety

•  Continuous monitoring of health and safety risks and the implementation of safety improvement 
plans 

Technical skills shortage in the 
industry which may impact on future 
development

•  Continue to assess the Group’s skills requirements and ensure the required training programmes are 
put in place, when appropriate, for executives, employees and community as a potential skills pool

Managing community and shareholder 
expectations

• Stakeholder engagement and communications strategy

•  Liaison officers based in the community provide a mechanism to communicate with the community

External audit
The audit and risk committee is responsible for the oversight of the 
external auditors. The external auditors will provide assurance to 
shareholders that the information provided to them fairly presents the 
Group’s financial performance. See the auditor’s assurance report on 
page 37.

The appointment of the external auditors is approved by shareholders 
at the annual general meeting. In its assessment, the audit and risk 
committee will ensure that the external auditor’s independence is not 
impaired in any way and that the highest level of professional ethics 
is observed by the external auditor. The audit and risk committee is 
satisfied that BDO South Africa Inc, the Group’s appointed external 
auditor, is independent.

Code of ethics 
The Bauba Platinum board has adopted a code of ethics based 
on the fundamental principles of integrity, transparency and 
accountability. The code of ethics describes the behaviour required of 
all Group representatives when engaging with stakeholders. Directors, 

executive management and all employees are required to sign the 
code of ethics and the board accepts full responsibility for ensuring, 
as far as reasonably possible, that the code is enforced.

Human rights
Basic human rights, as enshrined in the country’s Constitution and Bill 
of Rights, are a key consideration in the way Bauba Platinum conducts 
its business activities and engages with its stakeholders. Group 
policies and procedures ensure that employees and stakeholders are 
treated with dignity and respect, irrespective of gender, background 
or race. 

Approach to stakeholder engagement 
While Bauba Platinum’s primary responsibility is to its investors and 
the enhancement of shareholder value over time, this is only possible 
with fair and reasonable regard for other stakeholders who have an 
interest in or are affected by the Group’s activities. Open and equitable 
engagement with these stakeholders provides an opportunity to 
identify risks, challenges and opportunities which are considered 
material for the Group and the communities in which it operates. 
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The key material issue for all stakeholders in this reporting period has 
been the sustainability of the Group and its ability to continue with both 
mining the Moeijelijk operation and the drilling programme on its core 
PGM assets. To this end, the Group has engaged extensively with all 
key stakeholders to understand their concerns and to determine a 
way forward which is in the best interests of the business, investors, 
partners and community shareholders.

Community relations are an important part of the Group’s stakeholder 
engagement plans, and Bauba Platinum has a number of processes in 
place to engage meaningfully with the community, its representatives 
and members. These include, amongst others, the use of community 
liaison officers who are based in the community and are able to 
provide information on the Group and its activities on a regular basis. 

Mechanisms for shareholder 
communication with the board 
There are a number of formal mechanisms in place to ensure that 
shareholders have appropriate access to those responsible for 
safeguarding their investment in the Company. These include one-
on-one meetings with major investors, presentations, road shows, 
announcements on the JSE Limited’s electronic news service 
(SENS), publication in the media of interim and year end results, the 
Company’s website, the annual report to shareholders and the annual 
general meetings where shareholders can use proxy forms to exercise 
their votes should they not be able to attend in person.

A stakeholder engagement matrix is available on the Company’s 
website (www.bauba.co.za).

King III corporate governance 
compliance
Bauba Platinum has conducted a self-assessment of compliance to the 
recommendations of King III, according to the “apply or explain” principle. 
The compliance matrix, being the 75 King III principles, is available on the 
Company’s website (www.bauba.co.za). 

During the period under review, the Group was under severe cash 
flow constraints and, as a result, critically evaluated all services, the 
associated costs, and the potential governance impact. Given the low 
level of operational and financial transaction activity in the year, the 
internal audit services were suspended and the scope of the external 
audit was extended to ensure that the associated risks were mitigated.  
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Corporate citizenship

There is a growing call around the 
world to ensure that local communities 
benefit from the activities of the mining 
companies they host. It is incumbent 
upon the board of directors and the 
management of Bauba Platinum to 
ensure that, from the outset, the Group 
has a full appreciation of the potential 
impact its activities could have on 
employees, local communities and the 
environment within which it operates 
and that it understands the needs and 
concerns of its many stakeholders, 
particularly to inform decisions 
around socio-economic development 
opportunities.

Bauba Platinum has a social and ethics committee, a key role of 
which is to assist the board in ensuring that the Group is and remains 
a socially responsible corporate citizen.

Transformation
The Bapedi Nation holds a 40% interest in Bauba A Hlabirwa 
Mining Investments Proprietary Limited, the legal holder of the PGM 
prospecting rights and the Moeijelijk chrome mining right and operator. 
This means that Bauba Platinum meets the BBBEE requirements of 
the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act (MPRDA). 
The future expected near-term cash generation from the Moeijelijk 
chrome operation will greatly assist the Bapedi Nation.

As our BBBEE partners and a significant shareholder in the business, 
the intention is to involve the Bapedi Nation in the day-to-day activities 
of the operations. Much is being done to build the business skills 
of those representing the Bapedi Nation at different levels within the 
organisation to enable them to take an active role in the business. 
We have continued our engagement sessions with the community 
to ensure that there is a common understanding of the scope and 
potential of our activities and to enhance awareness around the 
constraints within which the Group is operating and how we are 
dealing with these challenges.

Workplace
Even as a small employer, Bauba Platinum is committed to employment 
practices which are founded on the fundamental principles of fairness 
and equity. 

It is the responsibility of the Group to ensure a safe and healthy 
working environment. A safety and health policy, which is aligned 
to occupational health and mining legislation requirements, outlines 
the Group’s zero harm objectives. Management requires companies 
undertaking work on behalf of Bauba Platinum to comply with relevant 
health, safety and environmental regulations. Community liaison 
officers have undergone safety training in exploration and drilling as 
part of the Group’s broader skills development programme.

Although most of the exploration and mining activities are undertaken 
by contractors, as far as possible the Group encourages the use of 
local employees in positions which do not require specialist skills.

Environment
All exploration sites are rehabilitated immediately after completion 
of the drilling of the particular hole. Rehabilitation is done at the 
Moeijelijk Mine site after all mineable chrome has been removed from 
that section of the pit. These mined sections of the open cast pit are 
then back-filled and shaped when the next section is being stripped.  
The drilling and mining contractors are responsible for rehabilitating 
the site to standards agreed with Bauba Platinum. Management 
ensures that these standards have been met by way of an inspection 
before a drill site is vacated or the mining contractor’s responsibility 
discharged. Responsible land stewardship is critical and is carefully 
monitored by the Group.

The Group’s main environmental impacts are:

•  the use of diesel to power the drill rig, earth-moving equipment 
and generate electricity on site; 

• the management of waste; and

• the disturbance of land by drilling and mining activities.

Social development
Bauba Platinum acknowledges the need to engage with communities 
in which it operates from the very earliest stages of the mining lifecycle 
and has sought to provide the platform for open dialogue with these 
communities. A proper grasp of the community’s needs and concerns 
will enable the Group to respond to these, relative to its operational 
activities where appropriate.
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Approval of annual financial 
statements
The Group annual financial statements and the separate annual 
financial statements of Bauba Platinum Limited, as identified in the 
first paragraph, were approved by the board of directors and are 
signed on its behalf by:

NPJ van der Hoven
Chairman

NW van der Hoven
Chief executive officer

CH Gernandt
Financial director

30 November 2016

In our capacity as company secretary, we hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, that for the year ended 
30 June 2016, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required of a public 
company in terms of the Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Merchantec Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

30 November 2016

Directors’ responsibility statement

Certificate by company secretary

The board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the Group annual financial statements and separate annual 
financial statements of Bauba Platinum Limited, comprising the 
statements of financial position at 30 June 2016, the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year ended 30 June 2016, and the notes to the financial statements, 
which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes and the directors’ report, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

The annual financial statements were prepared by the financial 
director, Carl-Heinz Gernandt (CPA, CGA, ACCA) and audited by 
BDO South Africa Incorporated in compliance with section 30(2)(a) 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

The board is also responsible for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and 
an effective system of risk management.

The board has made an assessment of the ability of the Company 
and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns and has no reason 
to believe that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year 
ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the Group annual 
financial statements and separate annual financial statements of 
the Company are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework.
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2016

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the 2016 
financial year.

Nature of business
The Bauba Group is a junior mining company focusing on the mining 
of chrome ore and the exploration of platinum group metals (PGM).

The Group has recently shifted its main focus towards the mining 
of chrome from platinum exploration due to the current economic 
climate, persistently low PGM prices and the acquisition of the 
Moeijelijk chrome resource in the prior year with positive long-term 
prospects. 

The Group holds a 30-year chrome mining right that was notarially 
executed on 13 July 2016 over the farm Moeijelijk 412KS. This chrome 
mine has a developed open cast operation with plans to develop an 
underground mine commencing in the 2017 calendar year.

The Group also holds new order prospecting rights over eight farms 
which make up the Bauba PGM exploration assets. The new order 
prospecting rights were successfully renewed to 17 July 2015. 
Applications for retention permits under section 31(1) of the Mineral 
and Petroleum Resources Development Act (Act 28 of 2002), for 
both the Group’s prospecting rights were submitted on 13 July 2015. 
The granting (if so granted) of such retention permits would in essence 
suspend any further obligatory expenditure and work on these 
platinum assets for a period of three years from the date of grant of 
such retention permits. 

On 17 February 2016 the aforesaid retention permits received a positive 
recommendation from the Chief Mine Economist of the Department 
of Mineral Resources (the DMR), Limpopo region. Accordingly, the 
Group now awaits the possible granting of the aforesaid retention 
permit applications. 

Financial results
The Group loss attributable to owners of the parent amounts to 
R6,4 million (2015: profit of R0,9 million). The current year loss is due 
the Group’s chrome mine being placed under care and maintenance 
from January 2016 and a significant bad debt write off of R13,2 million 
(excluding VAT) raised relating to a significant debtor who went 
into business rescue. The headline loss of the Group attributable 
to owners of the parent amounts to R6,4  million (2015:  profit  
of R7,2  million) and total assets amounted to R185,3  million 
(2015: R219,1 million).

The financial statements set out the financial results of the Group 
and Company on pages 38 to 65. These financial statements have 
been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, conforming to 
International Financial Reporting Standards, supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements where required.

Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and 
that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of 
business. As is common with many junior exploration and mining 
companies, the Group raises capital for exploration and other projects 
as and when required. There can be no assurance that the Group’s 
projects will be fully developed in accordance with current plans or 
completed on time or to budget. Future work on the development 
of these projects may be adversely affected by factors outside the 
control of the Group.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 
the next twelve months from year end. 

Share capital
The authorised share capital of the Company is 750 million shares 
of which 379 020 249 were in issue at 30 June 2016 (refer note 18).

During the year under review the Company issued no additional 
shares.

Borrowing powers
In terms of Article 79 of the Memorandum of Incorporation of Bauba 
Platinum, the Company has unlimited borrowing powers vested in the 
directors. The Group does not currently have an overdraft facility.

Litigation
The Group is involved in two litigation matters. The details are:

•  A review application was lodged by Rustenburg Platinum Mines 
Limited with regard to the prospecting rights held over the farms 
Genokakop 285KT and Groot Vygenboom 284KT, and

•  A previous employee of the Company has lodged a claim for 
compensation due to his resignation for alleged good cause.

The Company has taken senior counsel advice on both these matters 
and was informed that the Company has a strong case in both 
instances and the judicial system should find in the Company’s favour. 
The potential financial effect of the outcomes is uncertain in light of the 
outcome being subjected to the judicial process.

The directors are not aware of any legal proceedings or material 
conditions that may impact the Company’s ability to continue mining 
or exploration activities.

Subsequent events
There were no material subsequent events that the directors are 
aware of that have not been addressed at the date of this report. 
Refer to note 27 for detail.
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Directorate
During the reporting period, the following changes to the board of 
directors were made with effect from the following dates:

13 August 2015

Ms KW Mzondeki resigned as an independent non-executive director

31 May 2016

Mr S Caddy resigned as CEO and executive director

Mr NW van der Hoven appointed as CEO 

20 November 2016

Mr CH Gernandt resigned as financial director, effective 1 December 2016

Mr J Knowlden appointed as financial director, effective 1 December 2016

Directors’ remuneration and 
shareholding
Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 28 to the 
annual financial statements and details of directors’ shareholdings are 
set out under Shareholders’ information on page 66.

Directors’ interests in contracts
A contract was entered into with DS Smith for the provision of 
geological services. The details of the financial transactions are 
reflected in the notes to the financial statements in note 25 on related 
parties. During the period under review the Group did not enter into 
any other contracts in which directors have an interest.

Resolutions
All ordinary resolutions as well as three special resolutions were 
passed at the annual general meeting held on 22 January 2016. The 
special resolutions that were passed are as follows: 

Special resolution number 1: Non-executive 
directors’ remuneration
“RESOLVED THAT, in terms of the provisions of section 66(9) of 
the Companies Act, the annual remuneration payable to the non-
executive directors of the Company for their services as directors of 
the Company for the financial year ending 30 June 2016 be and is 
hereby approved as follows: Proposed daily non-executive directors’ 
fee of R9 750 for the year ended 30 June 2016.“

Special resolution number 2: General approval to 
acquire shares
“RESOLVED, by way of a general approval that the Company and/or 
any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are hereby authorised 
to acquire ordinary shares in the Company in terms of sections 46 and 
48 of the Companies Act, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited (the JSE), as amended from time to time.” 

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance 
for subscription of securities
“RESOLVED THAT, as a special resolution, in terms of section 44 
of the Companies Act, the shareholders of the Company hereby 
approve of the Company providing, at any time and from time to 
time during the period of two years commencing on the date of this 
special resolution number 3, financial assistance by way of a loan, 
guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, as contemplated in 
section 44 of the Companies Act, to any person for the purpose of, or 
in connection with, the subscription for any option, or any securities, 
issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related 
company, or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or a 
related or inter-related company, provided that: 

•  the board of directors of the Company (the board), from time to 
time, determines (i) the specific recipient, or general category 
of potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, 
nature and extent of such financial assistance; and (iii) the terms 
and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided; 
and 

•  the board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial 
assistance pursuant to this special resolution number 3 unless 
the board meets all those requirements of section 44 of the 
Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise 
the Company to provide such financial assistance.”

Special resolution number 4: Loans or other 
financial assistance to directors
“RESOLVED THAT, as a special resolution, in terms of section 45 
of the Companies Act, the shareholders of the Company hereby 
approve of the Company providing, at any time and from time to time 
during the period of two years commencing on the date of this special 
resolution number 4, any direct or indirect financial assistance (which 
includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation, and 
securing any debt or obligation) as contemplated in section 45 of the 
Companies Act, to a director or prescribed officer of the Company, or 
to a related or inter-related company or corporation or to a member 
of any such related or inter-related corporation or to a person related 
to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or 
member provided that: 

•  the board of directors of the Company (the board), from time 
to time, determines (i) the specific recipient or general category 
of potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, 
nature and extent of such financial assistance; and (iii) the terms 
and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided; 
and

•  the board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial 
assistance pursuant to this special resolution number 4 unless 
the board meets all those requirements of section 45 of the 
Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise 
the Company to provide such financial assistance.”



34   Bauba Platinum Limited | Integrated annual report 2016
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Company secretary
Merchantec Proprietary Limited
2nd Floor, North Block, Hyde Park Office Tower
Cnr 6th Road and Jan Smuts Avenue 
Hyde Park 2196
PO Box 41480, Craighall 2024

The functions of the company secretary are outsourced to an 
independent supplier, Merchantec Proprietary Limited. The 
multidisciplinary team of professionals includes company secretaries, 
lawyers, financial and business administrators. Merchantec Proprietary 
Limited has extensive experience and a strong track record in the 
listed environment. 

The role and functions of the company secretary include:

•  providing the directors, collectively and individually, with detailed 
guidance on their duties, responsibilities and powers;

•  providing information on laws, legislation, regulations and 
matters of ethics and good corporate governance relevant to the 
Company;

•  reporting to the Company’s board any failure on the part of 
the Company or a director of the Company to comply with the 
Memorandum of Incorporation or the Companies Act;

•  properly recording the minutes of all shareholder meetings;

•  properly recording the minutes of all board and subcommittee 
meetings; and

•  certifying in the Company’s annual financial statements whether 
the Company has filed required returns and notices in terms of the 
Companies Act, and whether all such returns and notices appear 
to be true, correct and up to date.

Registered office
Bauba Platinum Limited
Cube Workspace 
1 Wedgewood Link  
Bryanston 
Johannesburg 2191 

The Company’s postal address is:
PO Box 1658
Witkoppen 2068
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Audit and risk committee report

The audit and risk committee is constituted as a statutory committee 
of Bauba Platinum Limited to fulfil its responsibilities to shareholders 
in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa, to ensure compliance 
with the provisions of King III, and in respect of all other duties that 
may be assigned to it by the board. The committee has complied with 
its legal and statutory duties for the 2016 financial year.

Committee composition
The committee comprised three independent non-executive board 
members, of which one is the chairperson. The chairperson of the 
committee is Mr Martin Luyt, a chartered accountant by profession, 
and supported by Mr Damian Smith and Mr Sholto Dolamo as 
members. The chairman of the board is a standing invitee, but has 
no voting rights.

Meetings
Three audit and risk committee meetings were held during the year. 

Terms of reference
The committee has adopted formal terms of reference set out in a 
charter and approved by the board. These terms of reference are 
reviewed on an annual basis and updated where necessary. During 
the past year, the committee has executed its duties according to the 
terms of reference. 

Duties performed
The committee is acutely aware of its statutory and other 
responsibilities, the most significant of which executed are listed 
below:

•  Recommend the re-appointment of BDO South Africa 
Incorporated (BDO) as external auditors, having determined that 
they have the necessary expertise, are independent of the Group 
and are approved by the JSE;

•  Approved the terms of engagement of the external auditors and 
the fee to be paid, as per note 5 of the annual financial statements;

•  Reviewed the annual financial statements, the integrated annual 
report as well as the interim report before recommending them to 
the board for approval; 

•  Reviewed compliance with applicable legislative requirements of 
the appropriate regulatory authorities; 

• Reviewed the solvency and liquidity of the Group;

•  Reviewed all trading statements before recommending them to 
the board for approval;

• Reviewed the Group’s internal control systems;

• Received regular reports on litigation and tax matters; 

•  Recommended the suspension of the outsourced internal 
audit function due to the financial constraints that the Group 
experienced during the financial year;

•  Assessed the various components of combined assurance, and 
is satisfied that there is adequate coverage;

•  Ensured that the external auditors conducted such procedures 
to mitigate the risk associated with the suspension of the internal 
audit function and ensured the safe guarding of assets; 

•  Monitored the whistleblowing reports – there were no reportable 
irregularities noted by the committee or BDO; and

• I n meetings held separately with BDO, without the executive 
management present, no matters of concern were raised.

Risk management
The board has assigned oversight of the Group’s risk management to 
the committee. A risk register, which lists the material risks to which 
the business is exposed as well as mitigation strategies, is discussed 
and if need be, updated at audit and risk committee meetings. The 
report is presented at board meetings. 

The committee satisfied itself that the processes and procedures 
followed in terms of identifying, managing and reporting on risk are 
adequate and that the following areas, amongst other strategic and 
operational risks, have been appropriately addressed:

• Cash flow risk;

• Legal compliance risk;

• Financial reporting risks;

• Internal financial controls;

• Local communities on and around the prospecting areas;

• Legal tenure of the prospecting rights;

• Fraud risks relating to financial reporting; and

• IT risks related to financial reporting.

Internal audit and internal financial 
controls
Due to financial constraints the Group experienced during the previous 
financial year, the services of the internal auditors were suspended and 
the scope of the external auditors was amended from the previous 
year in order to alleviate the risk associated with the suspension of the 
internal audit services. The board will assess whether to reinstate the 
outsourced internal audit services in the near future. 

Based on the assurance from management, the external audit and the 
observance of the committee of the cash flow and expenditure status 
of the Group, the committee is satisfied that there was no breakdown 
of internal controls for the reporting period.

IT governance
The audit committee is required by King III to provide assurance to 
the board on information technology (IT) governance. The Group has 
developed an IT policy which incorporates the relevant requirements 
to safeguard the Group’s assets, in particular intellectual property. 
The  policy has been reviewed at committee meetings. An ongoing 
review process ensures that the Group’s intellectual property is 
properly safeguarded and that the external service provider has 
satisfactory controls in place as per its service level agreement. 
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Audit and risk committee report continued

Regulatory compliance
The committee is satisfied that the Group complied with all relevant 
laws and regulations and has a legal compliance framework and 
processes in place to detect non-compliance. 

Financial director review
As required by JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the audit committee 
has satisfied itself that the financial director has the appropriate 
experience and expertise to fill that position.

Annual integrated report
The audit and risk committee has reviewed the annual financial 
statements for Bauba Platinum Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2016 and considers that they comply in all material respects 
with the statutory requirements of the various Acts and standards 
governing reporting and disclosure. The committee has reviewed the 
integrated report and has recommended the report to the board and 
shareholders for approval.

On behalf of the board audit and risk committee

Martin Luyt
Audit and risk committee chairman 

30 November 2016
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Bauba Platinum Limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements 
of Bauba Platinum set out on pages 38 to 65, which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2016 and the 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in 
equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the 
consolidated financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and 
separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. An audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Bauba Platinum Limited as at 30 June 2016 and 
its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated 
and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the 
Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2016, we have read the 
directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company 
secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there 
are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are 
the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these 
reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between 
these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports and 
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in the Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that BDO 
South Africa Inc. has been the auditor of Bauba Platinum Limited for 
five years.

BDO South Africa Inc.
J Schoeman
Director

Registered Auditor
22 Wellington Road
Parktown 2193

30 November 2016
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Consolidated statements  
of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Note
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Revenue 4 78 743 40 901 4 707 3 595

Cost of sales (29 191) (15 533) – –

Gross profit 49 552 25 368 4 707 3 595

Other income – 10 – 10

Operating and administrative expenses 5 (53 961) (21 110) (13 913) (10 830)

Impairment of intangible assets 11 – (6 286) – –

Finance income 1 061 289 1 038 289

Profit on loans to subsidiaries 14 – – – 7 981

(Loss)/profit before taxation (3 348) (1 729) (8 168) 1 045

Income tax 6 (1 884) 8 015 – –

Comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year (5 232) 6 286 (8 168) 1 045

(Loss)/profit for the year (5 232) 6 286

Attributable to:

–  Equity holders of the parent (6 406) 934

–  Non-controlling interest 1 174 5 352

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year (5 232) 6 286

Attributable to:

–  Equity holders of the parent (6 406) 934

–  Non-controlling interest 1 174 5 352

Basic (loss)/profit per share (cents) 8 (1,69) 0,34 (2,15) 0,38

Diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents) 8 (1,69) 0,34 (2,15) 0,38

Weighted average shares in issue (’000) 379 020 272 172 379 020 272 172

Diluted weighted average shares in issue (’000) 379 020 277 861 379 020 277 861

Number of shares in issue at the end of the year (’000) 379 020 379 020 379 020 379 020
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Consolidated statements  
of financial position 
as at 30 June 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Note
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Assets
Non-current assets 171 410 178 687 343 524 350 674

Intangible assets 11 164 324 169 365 140 476 147 619

Property, plant and equipment 12 955 1 307 37 44

Deferred tax 7 6 131 8 015 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 13 – – 203 011 203 011

Current assets 13 885 40 406 29 019 30 251

Loans to subsidiaries 14 – – 17 342 19 463

Inventory 15 – 5 998 – –

Tax receivable 476 – – –

Trade and other receivables 16 1 670 1 300 49 109

Cash and cash equivalents 17 11 739 33 108 11 628 10 679

Total assets 185 295 219 093 372 543 380 925

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves 174 934 180 166 372 312 380 480

Share capital 18 550 402 550 402 550 402 550 402

Reverse asset acquisition reserve 19 (282 988) (282 988) – –

Retained loss (94 796) (88 390) (178 090) (169 922)

Non-controlling interest 2 316 1 142 – –

Non-current liabilities 5 552 – – –

Provision for rehabilitation 22 5 552 – – –

Current liabilities 4 809 38 927 231 445

Trade and other payables 20 1 052 6 119 217 367

Other financial liabilities 21 3 757 30 288 14 78

Provision for rehabilitation 22 – 2 520 – –

Total equity and liabilities 185 295 219 093 372 543 380 925

Net asset value per share (cents) 46,15 47,53 98,23 100,39

Tangible net asset value per share (cents) 2,80 2,85 61,17 61,44
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Consolidated statements  
of cash flow
for the year ended 30 June 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Note
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Net cash effects from operating activities 10 6 358 4 105 (2 121) (4 899)

Net cash effects from investing activities (1 196) (826) 3 134 15 866

Proceeds from loans to subsidiaries 14  –  – 2 121 15 570

Investments in intangible assets 11 (2 232) – – –

Investments in property, plant and equipment 12 (25) (1 150) (25) (28)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment – 35 – 35

Interest received 1 061 289 1 038 289

Net cash effects from financing activities (26 531) 28 914 (64) (1 192)

Cost associated with listing and issuing of shares 18 – (1 192) – (1 192)

(Repayment)/proceeds from other financial liabilities (26 531) 30 106 (64) –

Total cash movement for the year (21 369) 32 193 949 9 775

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 33 108 915 10 679 904

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 11 739 33 108 11 628 10 679
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Consolidated statements  
of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Share
 capital

R’000

Reverse
acquisition
adjustment

R’000

Retained 
loss

R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Total
R’000

GROUP

Balance at 1 July 2014 401 594 (282 988) (89 324) (4 210) 25 072

Comprehensive profit for the year – – 934 5 352 6 286

Profit for the year – – 934 5 352 6 286

Issue of additional shares 150 000 – – – 150 000

Share issue expenses (1 192) – – – (1 192)

Balance at 30 June 2015 550 402 (282 988) (88 390) 1 142 180 166

Comprehensive loss for the year – – (6 406) 1 174 (5 232)

Loss for the year – – (6 406) 1 174 (5 232)

Balance at 30 June 2016 550 402 (282 988) (94 796) 2 316 174 934

Note 18 19

COMPANY

Balance at 1 July 2014 401 594 – (170 967) – 230 627

Comprehensive profit for the year – – 1 045 – 1 045

Profit for the year  – – 1 045 – 1 045

Issue of additional shares 150 000 – – – 150 000

Share issue expenses (1 192) – – – (1 192)

Balance at 30 June 2015 550 402 – (169 922) – 380 480

Comprehensive loss for the year  –  – (8 168)  – (8 168)

Loss for the year  – – (8 168) – (8 168)

Balance at 30 June 2016 550 402 – (178 090) – 372 312

Note 18
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Operational segment reporting 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operating segments
In the opinion of the directors, the operations of the Group comprise three reporting segments, being:

• Chrome projects, that represents the mining of chrome ore on the farm Moeijelijk;

• Platinum exploration, being activities associated with platinum exploration; and

• Corporate activities, being administration, regulatory and corporate expenses incurred.

The reportable segments are accounted for in line with accounting policies described in note 3.13.

Information regarding the actual expenses of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on the segment results 
as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO on a regular basis. Segment results are used to measure 
performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other 
entities that operate within these industries.

Chrome 
project

R’000

Platinum
exploration

R’000
Corporate

R’000
Total

R’000

2016

Revenue 78 743 – – 78 743

Profit/(loss) before tax 4 820 – (8 168) (3 348)

Taxation (1 884) – – (1 884)

Profit/(loss) after tax 2 936 – (8 168) (5 232)

Interest received – – 1 061 1 061

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 7 605 – 27  7 632

Investment in intangible assets 2 232 – – 2 232

Total assets 153 417 20 161 11 717 185 295

Total liabilities (10 130) – (231) (10 361)

2015

Revenue 40 901 – – 40 901

Other income – – 10 10

Profit/(loss) before tax 8 802 – (10 531) (1 729)

Taxation 8 015 – – 8 015

Profit/(loss) after tax 16 817 – (10 531) 6 286

Interest received – – 289 289

Interest paid – – 1 1

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 2 519 6 286 31 8 836

Investment in intangible assets 150 000 – – 150 000

Total assets 188 335 20 161 10 596 219 093

Total liabilities (38 719) – (208) (38 927)

Revenue from a single external customer amounted to 88% (2015: 100%) of the Group’s total revenue. No other external customer accounted for 
more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements
for the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Reporting entity
  Bauba Platinum Limited (the Company) is a company 

domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The Company’s 
registered address is Cube Workspace, 1 Wedgewood Link, 
Bryanston, Johannesburg 2191. The consolidated financial 
statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 
30 June 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the Group and individually as 
Group entities).

2. Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance
  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the framework concepts and the measurement and 
recognition requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, the Companies Act, 2008, 
(Act 71 of 2008) as amended, and the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited. The accounting policies are in terms of 
IFRS and are supported by reasonable and fair judgements 
and estimates as well as being consistent with those of the 
previous annual financial statements.

  The Group and Company annual financial statements 
were authorised for issue by the board of directors on  
30 November 2016.

2.2 Basis of measurement
  The Group’s financial statements are prepared on the 

historical cost basis and incorporate the following principal 
accounting policies which have been consistently applied. 
All transactions are recognised under the accrual basis of 
accounting.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency
  The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

South African Rand, which is the presentation currency and 
functional currency of all of the operations within the Group.

  All amounts in the financial statements, reports and supporting 
schedules are stated to the nearest thousand Rand (R’000) 
except where otherwise indicated. 

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. The use of estimates and judgements 
is further disclosed in note 3.17.

3. Significant accounting policies
3.1 Basis of consolidation

3.1.1 Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries are those entities that are controlled by the 
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and the ability to affect those returns through its power. 

  The consolidated financial statements present the results 
of the Group as if they formed a single entity. The results 
and cash flows of subsidiaries are included from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
Intergroup transactions and balances between Group 
companies are eliminated in full. 

  The accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

  In the financial statements of the Company, investments 
in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

  Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity. The interest of non-
controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share 
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This 
measurement choice is done on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, the carrying amount 
of the non-controlling interests is adjusted for movement in 
the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes 
in equity.

  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control are treated as an equity transaction 
with the carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the 
non-controlling interest adjusted. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the 
Company. When the Group loses control of a subsidiary the 
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the total of the fair 
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest less the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and 
any non-controlling interests. 

  The fair value of any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the 
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 
under IAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition 
of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies 
continued

3.2 Intangible assets

3.2.1 Exploration and Mineral Resources

  Exploration assets include expenditure incurred after the 
award of the legal licence, to explore a specific area for 
Mineral Resources (’area of interest’), has been obtained. 
Pre-licence costs are recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss as incurred.

  Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised as exploration 
assets on a project-by-project basis pending determination 
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the 
project. Exploration assets include costs of acquisition of 
rights to explore, topographical, geological, geochemical 
and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, trenching, 
sampling and activities to evaluate the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting a Mineral Resource.

  Administration and other general overhead costs, which are 
not directly attributable to the specific exploration assets, 
are expensed as incurred. When a licence is relinquished 
or a project is abandoned, the capitalised expenditure is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

  Amortisation of the cost will only occur once the project 
moves from the exploration and evaluation phase to the 
mining phase. The value of the capitalised cost is subjected 
to an impairment test.

  Capitalised mineral rights in production have a finite life and 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the 
asset. 

  A 21-year estimated useful life has been applied to the 
chrome mineral right in production. 

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

3.3.1 Recognition and measurement

  Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, 
excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such 
cost includes the cost of replacing part of such plant and 
equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition 
criteria are met. The carrying amounts of property, plant 
and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.

  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when future economic benefits are no longer 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year 
the asset is derecognised.

  The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
financial year end. When an item of plant and equipment 
comprises a number of significant components each with 
different useful lives, these components are recorded and 
depreciated as separate items. 

3.3.2 Subsequent costs

  Expenditure incurred to replace or modify a significant 
component of plant is capitalised and any remaining book 
value of the original component is expensed in the income 
statement. The costs of adding to, replacing part of, or 
servicing an item, following a major inspection, are recognised 
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. The costs 
of day-to-day servicing of the property, plant and equipment 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.3.3 Depreciation

  Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, since this best reflects the 
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset.

  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

 Vehicles   5 years

 Furniture and fittings  3 years

 Office equipment  3 years

  Residual value is the amount that the entity could recover for 
the asset at the reporting date if the asset was already of the 
age and the condition that it will be in when the entity expects 
to dispose of it. The estimated residual value is based on 
similar assets that have reached the end of their useful lives 
at the date that the estimate has been made. Residual value 
does not include expected future inflation. If the residual value 
of an asset increases to an amount equal to or in excess 
of the asset’s carrying value, then the asset’s depreciation 
charge will be zero. Depreciation will resume when the asset’s 
residual value falls below the asset’s carrying value.

3.4 Impairment of non-financial assets
  The carrying amounts of the Group’s intangible assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
an indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss 
is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 

  The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value-
in-use and its fair value less the cost to sell. In assessing 
value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not 
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generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

  Other non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
their carrying amount may not be recoverable. When the 
carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is written down accordingly. Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the impairment test is carried out on the asset’s cash-
generating unit. 

  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

  Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed 
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had been 
recognised.

3.5 Financial instruments

3.5.1 Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a 
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition.

3.5.2 Classification

  At present the Group or Company identifies the following 
financial instrument categories:

 •  Financial assets: loans and receivables (loans receivable, 
trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents); and

 •  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other 
payables and other financial liabilities).

3.5.3 Subsequent measurement

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade 
and other receivables, bank balances and cash and others) 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-
term receivables when the recognition of interest would be 
immaterial.

  Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables) 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a 
method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

3.5.4 Derecognition

  Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to receive cash flows have expired or when the Group has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

  Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.5.5 Impairment of financial assets

  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are 
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence 
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future 
cash flows of the asset have been affected.

  Objective evidence of impairment may include:

  • Significant financial difficulty of the debtor or borrower; or

  •  Breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments; and

  •  It becoming probable that the debtor or borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

  The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. Receivables 
together with the associated allowance are written off when 
there is no possibility of recovery and all collateral has been 
realised or transferred to the Group. 

  If there is a subsequent increase or decrease to the impairment 
loss because of an event occurring after impairment, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or 
reduced.
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3.6 Taxation
  Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax 

and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent that it relates to a business combination or items 
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

  Current taxation is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

  Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes.

  The following temporary differences are not provided for:

  • the initial recognition of goodwill;

  •  the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit; and

   •  differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

  A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of 
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 
losses can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the temporary differences 
when they reverse based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively been enacted by the reporting date.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:

  • the same taxable entity; or

  • different Group entities which intend either:

  –   to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis; or

  –   to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are expected to be settled or recovered.

3.7 Inventory
  Inventory Is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable 
overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories by the 
method most appropriate to the particular class of inventory. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale.

3.8 Share capital
  The Group’s ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 

costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of tax effects.

3.9 Revenue
  Group revenue is generated primarily from the sale of chrome 

ore. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for goods and services provided in the 
normal course of the Group’s business and is net of value 
added tax. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and costs and revenue can be reliably measured. 

  In addition, revenue from the sale of chrome ore is recognised 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed to the buyer and there is no continuing managerial 
involvement as per the sales terms detailed in the contract 
of sale.

  Intergroup management fees are recognised in the Company 
as revenue over the period during which these management 
services are provided to subsidiaries. These services are 
charged on a monthly basis as detailed in the management 
agreement and are eliminated in full on consolidation.

  Finance income comprises interest income earned on funds 
invested and is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

3.10 Dividends
  Dividends to equity holders are only recognised as a liability 

when declared and are included in the statement of changes 
in equity.

3.11 Leased assets
  Operating lease costs are recognised on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease. The Group has no finance lease 
obligations at present.

3.12 Mining royalties
  Provision for mining royalties is made with reference to the 

conditions specified in the Mineral and Petroleum Resources 
Royalty Act, for the transfer of refined and unrefined mined 
resources, upon the date such transfer is effected. These 
costs are included in operating and administrative expenses.

3.13 Segment reporting
  An operating segment is a component of the Group that 

engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and 
expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. All operating segments’ operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 
its performance, and for which discrete financial information 
is available.



   Bauba Platinum Limited | Integrated annual report 2016   47

  Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis.

3.14 Employee benefits
  The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised 

during the year in which the employee renders the related 
service. The accruals for employee entitlements to 
remuneration and annual leave represent the amount which 
the Group has a present obligation to pay as a result of 
the employee’s services provided to the reporting date. 
The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts 
based on current remuneration rates.

3.15 Contingent assets and liabilities
  A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past 

events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 
Contingent assets are not recognised as assets.

  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group, or 
a present obligation that arises from past events but is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured with sufficient reliability. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised as liabilities.

3.16 Environmental rehabilitation 
  The provision for environmental rehabilitation is recognised 

when there is an obligation for rehabilitation and mine 
closure costs arising from environmental disturbance caused 
by the development or ongoing production from mining 
activities. Estimated environmental rehabilitation provisions 
are measured considering the current technological, 
environmental and regulatory requirements. Any subsequent 
changes to the carrying amount of the provision resulting 
from changes to the assumptions used in estimating the 
provision are recognised in the income statement. Ongoing 
rehabilitation expenditure is recognised in the income 
statement as incurred. Drill site rehabilitation is done on an 
ongoing basis and no provision is carried in the accounting 
records.

3.17  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
  The Group makes certain estimates and assumptions 

regarding the future. Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual 
experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

3.17.1  Useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment

  As described in 3.2 and 3.3, the estimated useful lives of 
intangibles, property, plant and equipment are reassessed 
at the end of each annual reporting period. The Group 
depreciates/amortises its assets over their estimated useful 
lives, as more fully described in the accounting policies for 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The 
actual lives of these assets can vary depending on a variety of 
factors, including Mineral Resource and Reserves estimates, 
technological innovation and maintenance programmes. 
Changes in estimates can result in significant variations in 
the carrying value and amounts charged to profit or loss in 
specific periods.

3.17.2 Impairment testing

  The determination of value-in-use and fair value less cost 
to sell calculations requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions. A reasonable possible change in these 
estimates and assumptions may impact the Group’s 
recoverable amount determination for the particular asset 
or cash-generating unit and may then require a material 
adjustment to carrying value of intangible assets. These 
recoverable amount calculations take into account estimated 
Mineral and Resources statement, future commodity prices, 
exchange rates and mining costs amongst others. These 
estimates are determined using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions.

  A significant trade debtor applied for business rescue during 
the year. Management judged that the recoverability of this 
debtor was then uncertain and an impairment was raised 
during the year. Refer to notes 5 and 27.

3.17.3 Rehabilitation provision

  Long-term environmental rehabilitation obligations are based 
on the best estimate of the costs to be incurred based on 
the Group’s environmental rehabilitation plans, in compliance 
with current environmental and regulatory requirements (see  
note 22). Full provision is made based on the net present 
value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental 
disturbance that has occurred up to the reporting date. 
Estimates are based upon currently agreed costs with our 
contract miner. Actual costs in the future may differ from 
the estimates due to changes in discount rates, Mineral 
Resources and life-of-mine estimates, mining contractor 
costs and environmental laws and regulations. The estimated 
cost of rehabilitation is reviewed annually and adjusted where 
appropriate.
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3.18 New standards and interpretations 
  At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, certain new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations to 

existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the entity.

  Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the entity’s accounting policies for the first period beginning 
after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be 
relevant to the entity’s financial statements are provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are 
not expected to have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.

3.18.1  Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 

  There were no new or revised IFRS standards with effective dates applicable to the Group’s current financial year end.

3.18.2  Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective 

  The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards, amendments and interpretations, which have been published and are 
applicable for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning 
on or after Expected impact

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 The impact of this standard is not considered  
to be material.

IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (Amendments) 1 January 2016 The impact of this amendment is not considered 
to be material.

IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised  
Losses (Amendments)

1 January 2017 The impact of this amendment is not considered 
to be material.

IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative (Amendments) 1 January 2016 The impact of this amendment is not considered 
to be material.

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 The impact of this standard is not considered  
to be material.

IFRS 16: Leases 1 January 2019 The impact of this standard is not considered  
to be material.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

4. Revenue
Revenue arises from:

Sale of chrome ore 78 743 40 901 – –

Management fees charged to subsidiaries (refer note 25.2) – – 4 707 3 595

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

5. Operating and administrative 
expenses
Operating and administrative expenses include:

Auditor’s remuneration 537 415 533 415

–  Audit fees 537 415 533 415

Depreciation 359 143 27 31

–  Motor vehicles 75 15 – 8

–  Furniture and equipment 284 128 27 23

Royalty taxes 3 257 – – –

Trade receivables written off 13 245 – – –

Personnel expenses 6 183 7 250 4 445 5 945

–  Salaries and wages 6 183 7 250 4 445 5 945

Property rental 1 071 698 216 166

  The Group currently has one operating lease in place over its head office. This rental agreement is subject to a sixty calendar day notice 
period and expires on 30 April 2017 with an annual renewal option. Directors are currently negotiating the lease over the Moeijelijk 
operating site. 

 The total future value of minimum lease payments due:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Not later than one year 255 773 255 113

 There are no other lease payments due.
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GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

6. Income tax
Tax expense

Current tax expense – –

Current tax expense for the year – –

Deferred tax (expense)/income (1 884) 8 015

Current year origination and reversal of temporary differences (2 689) –

Recognition of deferred tax asset – 8 015

Prior year overprovision 805 –

Total income tax (expense)/income (1 884) 8 015

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Loss for the year before taxation (3 348) (1 729)

Income tax (expense)/income for the year (1 884) 8 015

(Loss)/profit for the year after taxation (5 232) 6 286

Statutory income tax rate (%) 28,00 28,00

Tax loss carried forward (%) – (491,00)

Disallowable expenditure (%) (99,34) –

Prior-year overprovision (%) 24,03 –

Unrecognised tax loss (%) (8,96) –

Effective tax rate (%) (56,27) (463,00)

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

7. Deferred taxation
At 1 July 8 015 – – –

(Expense)/income recognised in profit or loss (1 884) 8 015 – –

At 30 June 6 131 8 015 – –

  Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences where the directors believe it is 
probable that these will be recovered.

 Details of the deferred tax asset with all amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Property, plant and equipment (13) (43)

Provision for rehabilitation 1 554 705

Income and expense accruals 80 5 116

Estimated tax loss for subsidiary, Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited 4 510 2 237

Total 6 131 8 015

  The estimated tax losses carried forward for Bauba Platinum is R59 816 646 (2015: R58 744 892) and for Bauba A Hlabirwa  
R16 107 544 (2015: R7 987 919). Deferred tax was recognised on the estimated tax loss carried forward by Bauba A Hlabirwa as it is 
probable future profits will be generated. Bauba Platinum’s assessed tax loss may not be used to offset taxable profit elsewhere in the 
Group and no deferred tax asset has been recognised as it is uncertain whether future taxable profit would be generated in the Company 
to utilise this.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

8. Headline earnings per share
Basic (loss)/profit per share (cents) (1,69) 0,34 (2,15) 0,38

Diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents) (1,69) 0,34 (2,15) 0,38

Headline (loss)/profit per share (cents) (1,69) 2,65

Diluted headline (loss)/profit per share (cents) (1,69) 2,60

Weighted average shares in issue (’000) 379 020 272 172

Diluted weighted average shares in issue (’000) 379 020 277 861

Number of shares in issue at the end of the year (’000) 379 020 379 020

Adjustment to arrive at headline earnings:

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity holders  
of the parent (6 406) 934

Impairment of intangible assets – 6 285

Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 (8)

Headline (loss)/profit (6 403) 7 211

  The dilutive impact arose from the asset for share transaction on the prospecting right over the farm Houtbosch 323KT acquired in the 
2015 financial year after the prospecting right was notarially executed. 

  Headline earnings per share has been calculated in accordance with the SAICA Circular 2/2015 titled Headline Earnings which forms part 
of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.

9. Dividend
 The board of directors of Bauba Platinum has not declared a dividend for the year ended 30 June 2016 (2015: Nil).

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

10. Cash flow information
(Loss)/profit for the year before taxation (3 348) (1 728) (8 168) 1 045

Adjustment for: 9 606 11 310 6 137 (5 791)

Amortisation (note 11) 7 273 2 406 7 143 2 381

Depreciation (note 12) 359 143 27 31

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 – 5 –

Movement in rehabilitation provision 3 032 – – –

Movement in provision – – – 67

Interest received (1 061) (289) (1 038) (289)

Impairment of intangible assets – 6 286 – –

Impairment reversal of loans to subsidiaries – – – (7 981)

Changes in working capital 576 (5 477) (90) (153)

Trade and other receivables (370) (927) 60 –

Trade and other payables (5 052) 1 448 (150) (153)

Inventory 5 998 (5 998) – –

Tax paid (476) – – –

Net cash effects from operating activities 6 358 4 105 (2 121) (4 899)
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GROUP COMPANY

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
 amortisation

and
impairments

R’000

Carrying
values
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
 amortisation 

and 
impairments

R’000

Carrying 
values
R’000

11. Intangible assets
2016

Platinum mineral rights 30 555 (10 394) 20 161 – – –

Chrome mineral rights 153 842 (9 679) 144 163 150 000 (9 524) 140 476

Total mineral rights 184 397 (20 073) 164 324 150 000 (9 524) 140 476

2015

Platinum mineral rights 30 555 (10 394) 20 161 – – –

Chrome mineral rights 151 610 (2 406) 149 204 150 000 (2 381) 147 619

Total mineral rights 182 165 (12 800) 169 365 150 000 (2 381) 147 619

Opening 
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Amortisation

R’000
Impairment

R’000
Total

R’000

Reconciliation of intangible assets

2016

Group

Platinum mineral rights 20 162 – – – 20 162

Chrome mineral rights 149 203 2 232 (7 273) – 144 162

Total mineral rights 169 365 2 232 (7 273) – 164 324

Company

Platinum mineral rights – – – – –

Chrome mineral rights 147 619 – (7 143) – 140 476

Total mineral rights 147 619 – (7 143) – 140 476

2015

Group

Platinum mineral rights 26 447 – – (6 286)* 20 161

Chrome mineral rights 1 610 150 000 (2 406) – 149 204

Total mineral rights 28 057 150 000 (2 406) (6 286)* 169 365

Company

Platinum mineral rights – – – – –

Chrome mineral rights – 150 000 (2 381) – 147 619

Total mineral rights – 150 000 (2 381) – 147 619

   * The board has satisfied itself that an impairment loss of R6 285 519 has been incurred on the Central Cluster platinum mineral rights due to 
uneconomical qualities on the drilling results. The Company has not filed for retention permits on this Central Cluster.

  Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets on an 
area of interest basis. Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in the income 
statement. Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of the area of interest are current and either:

 • the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest; or

 •  activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of 
interest are continuing.
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11. Intangible assets continued

  Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if the facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units 
to which the exploration activity is related. The cash-generating unit shall not be larger than the area of interest. 

  Bauba Platinum has an effective 60% holding in Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited (Bauba A Hlabirwa) which 
holds prospecting rights over the following farms in Limpopo province: Magneetsvlakte 541KS; Dingaanskop 543KS, Fisant Laagte 
506KS, Zwitzerland 473KS, Indië 474KS, Schoonoord 462KS, Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT and Houtbosch 323KT. 
The prospecting rights held over Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT and Houtbosch 323KT are subject to a review application 
brought by Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited which to date has not been concluded. 

  Bauba Platinum has a 30-year mining right over the farm Moeijelijk 412KS and a prospecting right over the farm Waterkop 113KT. 

  In line with the Group accounting policies, the capitalised mineral rights cost was tested for impairment on a project-by-project basis, 
taking into consideration the geological results of the project area, the current platinum market and the expert opinions obtained in terms 
of the asset–for–share transaction. The impairment testing performed indicated that the mineral rights were not impaired.

 

GROUP COMPANY

Motor 
vehicles

R’000

Furniture 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

Motor 
vehicles

R’000

Furniture 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

12. Property, plant and 
equipment
Cost

At 1 July 2015 1 073 931 2 004 – 119 119

Additions – 25 25 – 25 25

Disposals – (66) (66) – (53) (53)

At 30 June 2016 1 073 890 1 963 – 91 91

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2015 503 194 697 – 75 75

Depreciation 75 284 359 – 27 27

Disposals – (48) (48) – (48) (48)

At 30 June 2016 578 430 1 008 – 54 54

Carrying value at 30 June 2016 495 460 955 – 37 37

Cost

At 1 July 2014 782 146 928 85 121 206

Additions 376 815 1 191 – 28 28

Disposals (85) (30) (115) (85) (30) (115)

At June 2015 1 073 931 2 004 – 119 119

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2014 546 96 641 50 83 133

Depreciation 15 128 143 8 22 30

Disposals (58) (30) (88) (58) (30) (88)

At 30 June 2015 503 194 696 – 75 75

Carrying value at 30 June 2015 570 737 1 307 – 44 44

  None of the items of property, plant and equipment have been encumbered and there are no contractual commitments to acquire any 
property, plant and equipment.
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COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

13. Investments in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries

Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited 86 618 86 618

Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited 116 393 116 393

Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited* – –

203 011 203 011

 * Investment is R100 (zero due to rounding effect).

 In the legal structure Bauba Platinum holds the following investments:

 Directly and indirectly:

 • Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited – 100% (2015: 100%) – dormant

 • Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited – 100% (2015: 100%) – dormant

 •  Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited – effective holding 60% (2015: 60%) – holder of the Waterkop 113KT 
prospecting right and Moeijelijk 412KS mining right.

  The remaining 40% interest in Bauba A Hlabirwa is held in favour of and for the benefit of the Bapedi Royal Family (2,4%) and the Bapedi 
Nation (37,6%), whose voting rights are in proportion to their ownership rights.

  The investments in the subsidiaries were tested for impairment and no impairment adjustment was deemed necessary. The impairment 
test considered the attributable targeted and inferred PGM/chrome resources and historical transactions that were concluded for such 
resources taking into consideration the current PGM/chrome prices.

 Summary of the significant financial information of Bauba A Hlabirwa

COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Non-current assets 30 897 31 024

Current assets 2 204 29 854

Non-current liabilities (includes loan from Bauba Platinum) 22 893 19 463

Current liabilities 4 576 38 719

Revenue 78 743 40 901

Profit for the year after tax 2 936 13 223
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13. Investments in subsidiaries continued

 Statement of cash flows for the year ended June 2016 of Bauba A Hlabirwa

COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Net cash effects from operating activities 8 551 9 045

Net cash effects from investing activities (2 219) (1 163)

Net cash effects from financing activities (28 650) 14 536

Total cash movement for the year (22 318) 22 418

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 22 429 11

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 111 22 429

 Non-controlling interest allocations and changes for Bauba A Hlabirwa

COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance 1 142 (4 210)

Non-controlling allocations for the year 1 174 5 352

Closing balance 2 316 1 142

 No dividends were declared in the current financial year (2015: Nil).

COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

14. Loans to subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries comprise:

Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited 17 342 19 463

Profit/(loss) on adjustment – cumulative – –

Loan discounted at the beginning of the year – (7 981)

Loan discounted during the year – 7 981

17 342 19 463

  Loans to subsidiaries are unsecured with no fixed repayment terms and bear no interest. The loans were initially recognised at fair 
value and have been discounted using the net present valuation method, as the repayment of these loans is only expected once  
Bauba A Hlabirwa produces income from its operation. Bauba A Hlabirwa has started generating revenue from its chrome operation and 
the loan will be repaid within the next 12 months. Discounting this loan is no longer required and this discount was reversed in the 2015 
financial year.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

15. Inventory
Chrome ore – 5 998 – –

  Inventory is based on direct and indirect costs incurred in the production of chrome ore.
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GROUP COMPANY

        Carrying amount         Carrying amount

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

16. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables comprise:

Trade receivables – 173 – –

VAT 1 116 942 17 –

Prepayments – 88 – 88

Deposits and other 554 97 32 21

1 670 1 300 49 109

	 	Deposits have been paid over the Group’s head office lease, operational site and a rehabilitation insurance guarantee issued to the 
Department of Minerals and Resources over the farm Moeijelijk 412KS.

 During the 2016 financial year a significant debt of R15 million was written off as unrecoverable. 

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

17. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Bank and cash balances 224 22 728 113 299

Call deposits 11 515 10 380 11 515 10 380

11 739 33 108 11 628 10 679

for the year ended 30 June 2016for the year ended 30 June 2016
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

18. Share capital and premium
Share capital and premium

Authorised share capital

750 000 000 (2015: 750 000 000) ordinary shares of no par value 750 000 750 000 750 000 750 000

Issued share capital

Balance at the beginning of the year 550 402 401 594 550 402 401 594

Shares issued – 150 000 – 150 000

Costs associated with capital raise – (1 192) – (1 192)

Balance at the end of the year 550 402 550 402 550 402 550 402

  During the 2015 financial year the Company issued 230 769 231 ordinary shares to the value of R150 000 000 for the acquisition of the 
prospecting right over the farms Moeijelijk 412KS and Waterkop 113KT as outlined in the circular issued to the shareholders on 22 August 
2014. An additional 21 189 600 ordinary shares were also issued in 2015 due to the successful completion of the notarial execution and 
registration of the Houtbosch 323KT prospecting right as outlined in the 2010 Circular. No additional shares have been issued in the year 
under review.

 The results of these transactions are reflected in “shares issued” and “cost associated with capital raise” above.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
’000

2015
’000

 2016
’000

2015
’000

Authorised share capital – number of shares

750 000 000 (2015: 750 000 000) ordinary shares of no par value 750 000 750 000 750 000 750 000

Issued share capital

Balance at the beginning of the year 379 020 127 062 379 020 127 062

Shares issued – 251 958 – 251 958

Balance at the end of the year 379 020 379 020 379 020 379 020
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19. Reverse acquisition reserve
  During the 2011 financial year Bauba Platinum concluded an asset-for-share transaction. The effect of the accounting treatment, as a 

result of the reverse asset acquisition, is that even though the consolidated financial statements are issued under the name of Bauba 
Platinum, it represents a continuation of Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited (Ndarama) and Bauba A Hlabirwa, except for its 
capital structure. 

  The accounting treatment requires that the share capital structure of Ndarama and Bauba A Hlabirwa is replaced by that of Bauba 
Platinum as at the transaction date, taking into consideration the value of the purchase price and the fair value of the assets bought. The 
following values were taken into consideration at the transaction date:

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Fair value of Bauba A Hlabirwa and Ndarama – 68 124 600 shares at R2,98 203 011 203 011

Share capital of Bauba 128 074 128 074

Net deemed value of Bauba 331 085 331 085

Share capital of Bauba A Hlabirwa and Ndarama (637) (637)

Non-controlling interest 255 255

Purchase price of Bauba – 16 011 854 shares at R2,98 (47 715) (47 715)

Reverse assets acquisition reserve 282 988 282 988

  At the transaction date the fair value of Bauba was R21 803 000 and the purchase price was R47 715 000 (16 011 854 shares at R2,98) 
resulting in a reverse asset acquisition cost of R25 913 000.

GROUP COMPANY

Carrying amount Carrying amount

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

20. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables comprise:

Trade payables 1 052 5 997 217 69

VAT – – – 236

Other payables – 122 – 62

1 052 6 119 217 367
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

21. Other financial liabilities (current)
Chrome ore credit facility – 12 000 – –
An amount was received as a credit facility until ASA supplies 
the Group a letter of credit. This amount will be repayable on the 
receipt of a letter of credit from a registered South African bank.

Chrome ore advance receipt – 18 106 – –
The amount relates to an advance payment for chrome ore 
produced but not yet delivered at 30 June 2015.

Royalty taxes 2 849 – – –
The amount relates to royalty taxes due according to the Mineral 
and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act.

Other 908 182 14 78

3 757 30 288 14 78

Current liabilities

At amortised cost 3 757 30 288 14 78

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

22. Provision for rehabilitation
At 1 July 2 520 –

Movement in provision during the year recognised in profit or loss 3 032 2 520 

At 30 June 5 552 2 520 

Current – 2 520 

Non-current 5 552 –

5 552 2 520 

  Environmental obligations are based on the Group’s environmental plans. Full provision is made based on the net present value of the 
estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance that has occurred up to the reporting date. This provision has been classified 
as a non-current liability in the current year due to the Group’s chrome mine being placed under care and maintenance with rehabilitation 
commencing once the mine resumes production.

  The provision for rehabilitation was previously included under other financial liabilities. This has now been separately presented on the face 
of the statement of financial position for improved disclosure.

23. Contingent liabilities
 The Group is involved in two litigation matters. The details are:

 •  A review application was lodged by Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited with regard to the prospecting rights held over the farms 
Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT and Houtbosch 323KT; and

 • A previous employee of the Company has lodged a claim for compensation due to his resignation for alleged good cause.

  The Company has taken senior counsel advice on both these matters and was informed that the Company has a strong case in both 
instances and the judicial system should find in the Company’s favour. The potential financial effect of the outcomes is uncertain in light of 
the outcome being subjected to the judicial process. 

  To the best of the board’s knowledge and belief there are no other contingent liabilities to third parties and/or contingent assets not set out 
or referred to in this report which may materially affect the financial position of the Group at 30 June 2016.

.



60   Bauba Platinum Limited | Integrated annual report 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2016

24. Financial instruments
24.1 Risk management activities
  In the normal course of its operations, the Group is exposed to credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. This note describes the Group’s 

objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and methods used to measure them. In order to manage these risks, the 
Group has developed a comprehensive risk management process to facilitate control and monitoring. The board has overall responsibility 
for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and, while retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has 
delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the 
Group’s finance function. The Company’s treasury function provides services to the subsidiaries, coordinates access to domestic financial 
markets and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group. Operational and business risks are reviewed 
and addressed on a monthly basis. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group does not enter 
into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

24.2 Credit risk
  The Group’s credit risk pertains to selling of goods and services. The Company fulfils a centralised treasury function for the Group. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Financial instruments

Credit risk

Loans to subsidiaries – – 17 432 19 463

Trade receivables – 173 – –

Deposits and others 554 97 35 21

Cash and cash equivalents 11 739 33 108 11 628 10 679

 During the 2016 financial year a significant debtor of R15 million was written off as unrecoverable.

24.3 Foreign exchange risk
 The Group has no direct foreign exchange exposure and at present does not transact in foreign currency. 

24.4 Interest rate risk
 At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Interest rate risk

Financial assets (cash) 11 739 33 108 11 628 10 679

  A sensitivity analysis is performed by assuming that the assets and liabilities outstanding at year end have been outstanding for the whole 
year and that the interest rate has increased or decreased by two hundred basis points. The effect will be that loss before taxation for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 would increase/decrease by R234 780 (2015: R662 100).



   Bauba Platinum Limited | Integrated annual report 2016   61

24. Financial instruments continued

24.5 Liquidity risk management
  Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital. It is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its 

financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities 
when they become due. The Group manages liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows.

  The Group has no overdraft facility and no interest bearing debt. In the ordinary course of business the Group raises cash through the 
issuing of shares for cash. Surplus cash is centrally managed to maximise returns while ensuring that the capital is safeguarded by 
investing only with top financial institutions.

  The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. This table was drawn up 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay:

GROUP COMPANY

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
%

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

 2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Liquidity risk

Other financial liabilities – 3 757 32 808 14 –

Trade and other payables – 1 052 6 119 217 131

Due in one to six months – 1 052 6 119 217 131

Due in seven to twelve months – 3 757 32 808 14 –

 It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

  The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table has been drawn up based on 
the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion of 
information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the liquidity is 
managed on a net asset and liability basis.

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
%

Less than 
one month

R’000

One to
twelve

months
R’000

Total
R’000

30 June 2016

Non-interest bearing – 1 670 1 670

Variable interest rate instruments  5,9 11 739 – 11 739

11 739 1 670 13 409

30 June 2015

Non-interest bearing 1 300 – 1 300

Variable interest rate instruments 4,9 33 108 – 33 108

34 408 – 34 408
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24.6 Fair value of financial instruments
 Three different levels for fair valuation have been defined:

 • Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

 •   Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices); and

 •  Level 3: inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

 All financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

  The directors are of the opinion that the carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities as reflected on the face of the consolidated 
statement of financial position is the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities due to their short-term nature.

24.7 Capital management
  Once the chrome mining operation resume production, this should provide cash flow in support of the current exploration programme to 

secure the legal tenure. Should the cash flow from the chrome operations not be sufficient, additional capital will be raised by the issuing of 
shares for cash. The cash outflows are managed by adjusting the drilling rates to coincide with the cash inflow from cash raise programme 
and mining operations. The capital management objectives and principles applied in the current financial period are consistent with those 
applied in the previous financial period.

  The Group’s audit and risk committee reviews the liquidity of the Group at every meeting to ensure that the Group will be able to continue 
as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders.

  The Group is not subjected to externally imposed capital requirements.

25. Related parties
25.1 Ultimate holding company
  During the 2015 financial year an asset-for-share transaction was concluded in which the Company acquired an effective 60% of the 

beneficial rights in the prospecting rights held over the farms Moeijelijk 412KS and Waterkop 113KT. This transaction was detailed in a 
circular issued to shareholders dated 22 August 2014 and approved at the general meeting held on 19 September 2014. The counterparty 
to this transaction, referred to as the Vendors in the aforesaid circular, disposed of these prospecting rights to the Company for a purchase 
price of R150 million settled by way of the issue and allotment to the respective Vendors of 230 769 231 shares at an issue price of  
65 cents per Bauba Platinum Limited share to be registered in the names of each of the Vendors as follows:

Vendor
Number

of shares

Highland Trading Investments Limited 156 115 384

Math-Pin Trust 32 269 231

HMI 21 538 461

Danene Trust 9 038 462

Kumane Trust 9 038 462

Pimlico Investment Trust 2 769 231

Total shares issued 230 769 231

  After the finalisation of this transaction, Highland Trading Investments Limited is the Group’s ultimate holding company with an effective 
shareholding of 59,93%.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2016
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25. Related parties continued

25.2 Transactions and balances

 Subsidiaries (refer note 13)

  Transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation. 
The subsidiaries are:

Effective 
holding

%

Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited 100

Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited 100

Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited 60

COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Loans to subsidiaries

Loans to subsidiaries 17 342 19 463

Refer to note 13 for detail.

Related-party transactions

Management fees are raised between Bauba Platinum Limited and Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining 

Investments Proprietary Limited for the management of the chrome and platinum projects 4 707 3 595

25.3 Directors
 The directors of the Group during the year were:

Appointed Resigned

NPJ van der Hoven 30/05/2015 Chairman – non-executive

M Luyt 30/05/2015 Independent non-executive and chairman of the audit committee 

SM Dolamo 17/09/2010 Independent non-executive

DS Smith 17/09/2010 Independent non-executive

Dr NM Phosa 28/03/2011 Non-executive

King TV Thulare 01/07/2011 Alternate to Dr NM Phosa

NW van der Hoven 30/05/2015 CEO 

CH Gernandt 30/05/2015 CFO

SJM Caddy 13/02/2013 31/05/2016 CEO 

KW Mzondeki 17/09/2011 13/08/2015 Independent non-executive and chairperson of the audit committee

  For details of the directors’ remuneration refer to note 28. Details of other transactions between the Group and its directors are disclosed 
below.

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Related party

Prospect Geoservices CC (DS Smith – director – geological services)

Fees 147 280

Amounts due at 30 June 147 –

25.4 Other related parties
 There were no transactions between the Group and its other related parties.
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26. Going concern
  The financial year under review reflects a challenging year. The overall net loss after tax for the year was R5,232 million. The cash flow 

forecasts prepared by the directors indicate that the Company will be able to meet its commitments within the next 12 months as they 
fall due and to continue funding the Group expenditures. The Company has sufficient resources to continue as a going concern and 
has therefore concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Accordingly, the financial 
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Company were unable to continue as a going concern.

27. Subsequent events
  Shareholders are referred to the announcement released on SENS on 26 July 2016 wherein shareholders were advised that on 24 March 

2016, the Company announced that a provision had been made in the results for the six months ended 31 December 2015 for an amount 
of approximately R15 million in respect of a doubtful debtor (the Debtor). This provision arose from the delivery of approximately 20 000Mt 
of chrome ore to the Debtor, for which the Company was not paid by the Debtor, who subsequently went into business rescue. The Group 
wrote the debt off as unrecoverable in the year under review. After vigorous legal action, an agreement was entered into with the Debtor, 
in terms of which the Company was entitled to recover approximately 17 300Mt of its chrome ore product (Product) which had been 
delivered to the Debtor’s processing site.

  On 15 August 2016 Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited signed a contract selling the Product at the Debtor’s site 
valued at R13 840 000 excluding VAT and has been settled in full for this sale. The shortfall will remain part of the Company’s concurrent 
claim against the Debtor. 

  Apart from the statement above the directors are not aware of any other significant matter or circumstance arising since the end of the 
financial year, not otherwise dealt with in this report or the annual financial statements, which significantly affects the financial position of 
the Group or the results of its operations to the date of this report.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2016
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28. Directors’ emoluments
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Executive directors

Salary

SJM Caddy Resigned 31 May 2016 1 837 2 060 1 837 2 060

CH Gernandt Appointed 30 May 2015 817 86 817 86

NW van der Hoven Appointed 30 May 2015 845 76 845 76

WA Moolman Resigned 30 May 2015 – 1 047 – 1 047

  The remuneration of the executive directors is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals 
and market trends. None of the executive directors received short-term incentives, post-employment benefits, other long-term incentives, 
termination benefits or share-based benefits during this year.

  Executive directors are subject to the Company’s standard conditions of employment.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Non-executive directors

NPJ van der Hoven (Chairman) Appointed 30 May 2015 117 32 117 32

M Luyt Appointed 30 May 2015 58 29 58 29

JG Best (Chairman) Resigned 30 May 2015 – 361 – 361

KV Dicks Resigned 30 May 2015 – 448 – 448

SM Dolamo Appointed 17 September 2010 81 432 81 432

Dr NM Phosa Appointed 22 March 2011 28 122 28 122

KW Mzondeki Resigned 13 August 2015 73 346 73 346

DS Smith Appointed 17 September 2010 42 190 42 190

King TV Thulare (Alt) Appointed 1 July 2011 295 439 33 153

Fees 33 153 33 153

Salary 262 286 – –

 Executive directors do not receive directors’ fees and all the directors have service contracts with the Company at 30 June 2016.
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Shareholders’ information
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Number % Shares %

Range

 0  –  1 000 666 49,74 237 799 0,06

 1 001  –  10 000 341 25,46 1 410 966 0,37

 10 001  –  100 000 243 18,15 9 029 388 2,38

 100 001  – 1 000 000 72 5,38 22 195 599 5,86

 1 000 000 + 17 1,27 346 146 497 91,33

1 339 100,00 379 020 249 100,00

Major shareholders directly owning 5% or more of shares in issue

Highland Trading Investments Limited 227 160 272 59,93

Math-Pin Trust 30 000 000 7,92

Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited 29 866 066 7,88

Shareholder spread

Public 1 336 99,78 106 926 944 28,21

Non-public 3 0,22 272 093 305 71,79

Highland Trading Investments Limited 1 0,08 227 160 272 59,93

Directors 2 0,15 44 933 033 11,86

Directly 
held

Indirectly 
held Total

%
of shares

Directors’ shareholding

2016

Dr NM Phosa – 30 000 000 30 000 000 7,92

King TV Thulare – 14 933 033 14 933 033 3,94

Total number of shares – 44 933 033 44 933 033 11,86

2015

Dr NM Phosa – 30 263 971 30 263 971 7,98

King TV Thulare – 14 933 033 14 933 033 3,94

Total number of shares – 45 197 004 45 197 004 11,92

There have been no changes to the directors’ shareholding since year end and the date of approval of the annual financial statements.
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Notice of annual general meeting

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in 
respect of the following resolutions, please consult your Central 
Securities Depository Participant (CSDP), broker, banker, 
attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders 
of Bauba (annual general meeting) will be held at 10:00 on  
Wednesday, 25 January 2017 at the registered office of the Company 
at Cube Workspace, 1 Wedgewood Link, Bryanston, for the 
purpose of considering, and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the resolutions set out hereafter.

The board of directors of the Company (the board) has determined 
that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the 
Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the record date 
for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the Company 
are entitled to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting 
is  Friday, 20 January 2017. Accordingly, the last day to trade Bauba 
shares in order to be recorded in the Register to be entitled to vote will 
be Tuesday, 17 December 2016.

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements 
of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended  
30 June 2016, including the reports of the auditors, directors 
and the audit and risk committee.

  Note: A copy of the annual financial statements appears on 
pages 38 to 65 of the integrated annual report to which this 
notice is attached.

2.  To confirm the appointment of Nick van der Hoven who was 
appointed as chief executive officer by the board of directors on 
31 May 2016.

3.  To confirm the appointment of Jonathan Knowlden who was 
appointed as financial director by the board of directors on  
1 December 2016.

4.  To re-elect Mathews Phosa who, in terms of Article 25 of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, retires by rotation at 
this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers 
himself for re-election. 

5.  To re-elect Martin Luyt who, in terms of Article 25 of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, retires by rotation 
at this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers 
himself for re-election. 

6.  To re-elect Damian Smith who, in terms of Article 25 of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, retires by rotation 
at this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers 
himself for re-election. 

  An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each director 
offering himself for re-election appears on pages 4 and 5 of the 
integrated annual report to which this notice is attached. 

7.  To appoint Martin Luyt as a member and chairman of the Bauba 
Platinum Limited audit and risk committee. 

8.  To appoint Sholto Dolamo as a member of the Bauba Platinum 
Limited audit and risk committee. 

9.  To appoint Damian Smith as a member of the Bauba Platinum 
Limited audit and risk committee.

  An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each member of 
the audit committee appears on pages 4 and 5 of the integrated 
annual report to which this notice is attached. 

10.  To confirm the re-appointment of BDO South Africa as 
independent auditors of the Company with J Schoeman, being 
the individual registered auditor who has undertaken the audit 
of the Company for the ensuing financial year, and to authorise 
the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

The minimum percentage of voting rights required for each of the 
resolutions set out in item numbers 1 to 10 above to be adopted is 
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on each 
of the resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at 
the annual general meeting.

BAUBA Platinum Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

(Registration number 1986/004649/06)

Share code: BAU  |  ISIN: ZAE000145686

(Bauba Platinum or the Company or the Group)
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 13.  Ordinary resolution number 2
  Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell 

treasury shares, for cash
  “Resolved that the directors of Bauba Platinum Limited (the 

Company) and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be 
and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to:

 •  allot and issue, or to issue any options in respect of, all or 
any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company; and/or

 •  sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue any 
options in respect of, ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company,

  for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the directors may from time to time 
in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, 
2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the Memorandum of 
Incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries and the 
Listings Requirements of JSE Limited (the JSE Listings 
Requirements) from time to time.” 

  The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, 
that:

 •  this general authority will be valid until the earlier of the 
Company’s next annual general meeting or the expiry 
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this 
authority is given;

 •  the securities which are the subject of the issue for cash 
must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that 
are convertible into a class already in issue;

 •  any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders” 
as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to 
related parties;

 •  the securities which are the subject of a general issue 
for cash may not exceed 15% (fifteen percent) of the 
number of listed securities, excluding treasury shares, as 
at the date of this notice, being 56 853 037 securities. 
Any  securities issued under this authorisation during 
the period of 15  (fifteen) months from the date of this 
authorisation will be deducted from the aforementioned 
56 853 037 listed securities. In the event of a sub-division 
or a consolidation during the period contemplated above 
the authority will be adjusted to represent the same 
allocation ratio; 

 •  in determining the price at which securities may be 
issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average traded price of such securities measured over 
the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the 
price of the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer 
and the party/ies subscribing for the securities;

 As special business, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or 
without modification, the following resolutions:

11. Special resolution number 1
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration
  “Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of sections 66(9) of 

the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the 
annual remuneration payable to the non-executive directors 
of Bauba Platinum Limited (the Company) for their services 
as directors of the Company for the financial year ending 
30 June 2017, be and is hereby approved as follows:

Type of fee

Proposed daily fee 
for the year ending 

30 June 2017
R

Approved daily fee 
for the year ended 

30 June 2016
R

Non-executive 
directors’ fee 9 750 9 750”

 Explanatory note

  In terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, a company 
is required to pre-approve the payment of remuneration to 
non-executive directors for their services as directors for 
the ensuing financial year by means of a special resolution 
passed by shareholders of the Company within the previous 
two years. 

  Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

12.  Ordinary resolution number 1
 Approval of remuneration policy
  “Resolved that the remuneration policy of the directors 

of Bauba Platinum Limited (the Company), as set out on  
page 23 of the integrated annual report to which this notice is 
attached, be and is hereby approved by non-binding advisory 
vote of shareholders of the Company in terms of the King III 
Report on Corporate Governance.”

  Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is 
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on such 
resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy 
at the meeting.
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 •  an announcement giving full details, including the number 
of securities issued, the average discount to the weighted 
average traded price of the securities over 30 (thirty) 
business days prior to the date that the issue is agreed 
in writing between the issuer and the parties subscribing 
for the securities and an explanation including supporting 
information (if any) of the intended use of the funds will 
be published when the Company has issued securities 
representing, on a cumulative basis within the earlier of 
the Company’s next annual general meeting or the expiry 
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this 
authority is given, 5% (five percent) or more of the number 
of securities in issue prior to the issue; and

 •  whenever the Company wishes to use repurchased 
shares, held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the 
Company, such use must comply with the JSE Listings 
Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary 
shares.

   Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution 
number 2 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all 
members present or represented by proxy at the annual 
general meeting.

14. Special resolution number 2
 General approval to acquire shares
  “Resolved, by way of a general approval that Bauba Platinum 

Limited (the Company) and/or any of its subsidiaries from 
time to time be and are hereby authorised to acquire ordinary 
shares in the Company in terms of sections 46 and 48 of 
the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, 
the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited 
(the JSE), as amended from time to time.

  The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, 
that: 

 •  the acquisition of the ordinary shares must be effected 
through the order book operated by the JSE trading 
system and done without any prior understanding 
or arrangement between the Company and the 
counterparty;

 •  this general authority shall only be valid until the earlier of 
the Company’s next annual general meeting or the expiry 
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing 
of this special resolution;

 •  in determining the price at which the Company’s ordinary 
shares are acquired in terms of this general authority, the 
maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may 
be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average of the market value at which such ordinary 
shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 
5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on 
which the transaction is effected;

 •  at any point in time, the Company may only appoint one 
agent to effect any acquisition/s on its behalf; 

 •  the acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate in any 
one financial year may not exceed 20% (twenty percent) 
of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital;

 •  the Company may only effect the repurchase once a 
resolution has been passed by the board of directors 
of the Company (the board) confirming that the board 
has authorised the repurchase, that the Company has 
passed the solvency and liquidity test (test) and that since 
the test was done there have been no material changes 
to the financial position of the Group;

 •  the Company or its subsidiaries may not acquire ordinary 
shares during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 
3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements; and

 •  an announcement will be published once the Company 
has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the 
number of the ordinary shares in issue at the time this 
general authority is granted (initial number), and for each 
3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number 
acquired thereafter.”

 Explanatory note

  The purpose of this special resolution number 2 is to obtain 
an authority for, and to authorise, the Company and the 
Company’s subsidiaries, by way of a general authority, to 
acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

  It is the intention of the directors of the Company to use 
such authority should prevailing circumstances (including 
tax dispensations and market conditions) in their opinion  
warrant it.

  Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

14.1  Other disclosure in terms of Section 11.26 of 
the JSE Listings Requirements 

  The JSE Listings Requirements require the following 
disclosure, is are contained in the integrated annual report to 
which this notice is attached:

 •  Major shareholders of the Company – page 66; and 

 • Share capital of the Company – page 57.

14.2 Material change 
  There have been no material changes in the affairs or financial 

position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the 
Company’s financial year end and the date of this notice.
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14.3 Directors’ responsibility statement 
  The directors, whose names are given on pages 4 and 5 of 

the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached, 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to special resolution 
number 2 and certify that to the best of their knowledge 
and belief there are no facts in relation to special resolution  
number 2 that have been omitted which would make any 
statement in relation to special resolution number 2 false or 
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that special resolution number 2 
together with this notice contains all information required by 
law and the JSE Listings Requirements in relation to special 
resolution number 2.

14.4 Adequacy of working capital 
  At the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take 

place, the directors of the Company will ensure that, after 
considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a 
period of twelve months thereafter:

 •  the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay 
their debts as they become due in the ordinary course of 
business;

 •  the consolidated assets of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, will be in excess of 
the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries;

 •  the issued share capital and reserves of the Company 
and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purpose of the 
ordinary business of the Company and its subsidiaries; 
and

 •  the working capital available to the Company and its 
subsidiaries will be sufficient for the Group’s requirements.

15. Special resolution number 3 
  Financial assistance for subscription of 

securities 
  “Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of  

section 44 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), 
as amended (Companies Act), the shareholders of Bauba 
Platinum Limited (the Company) hereby approve of the 
Company providing, at any time and from time to time 
during the period of two years commencing on the date of 
this special resolution number 3, financial assistance by way 
of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, 
as contemplated in section 44 of the Companies Act, to 
any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
subscription for any option, or any securities, issued or to be 
issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, 
or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or a 
related or inter-related company, provided that:

 •  the board of directors of the Company (the board), from 
time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient, or 
general category of potential recipients of such financial 
assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such 
financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under 
which such financial assistance is provided; and

 •  the board may not authorise the Company to provide any 
financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution 
number 3 unless the board meets all those requirements 
of section 44 of the Companies Act which it is required to 
meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such 
financial assistance.”

 Explanatory note

  The purpose of this special resolution number 3 is to grant 
the board the authority to authorise the Company to provide 
financial assistance to any person for the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the subscription for any option or securities 
issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-
related company. 

  Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

16. Special resolution number 4

  Loans or other financial assistance to 
directors 

  “Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of  
section 45 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), 
as amended (Companies Act), the shareholders of Bauba 
Platinum Limited (the Company) hereby approve of the 
Company providing, at any time and from time to time during 
the period of two years commencing on the date of this 
special resolution number 4, any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a 
loan or other obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) 
as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a 
director or prescribed officer of the Company, or to a related 
or inter-related company or corporation or to a member of any 
such related or inter-related corporation or to a person related 
to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer 
or member provided that:

 •  the board of directors of the Company (the board), 
from time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient or 
general category of potential recipients of such financial 
assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such 
financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under 
which such financial assistance is provided, and

 •  the board may not authorise the Company to provide any 
financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution 
number 4 unless the board meets all those requirements 
of section 45 of the Companies Act which it is required to 
meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such 
financial assistance.”
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 Explanatory note

  The purpose of this special resolution number 4 is to 
grant the board the authority to authorise the Company to 
provide financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 
of the Companies Act to a director or prescribed officer of 
the Company, or to a related or inter-related company or 
corporation, or to a member of a related or inter-related 
corporation, or to a person related to any such company, 
corporation, director, prescribed officer or member. 

  Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting

17. Ordinary resolution number 3
  Amendments to the Bauba Platinum Limited 

2013 Share Incentive Plan 
  “Resolved that the Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 Share 

Incentive Plan be and is hereby amended so as to increase 
the aggregate number of shares which may be acquired by:

  •  all participants under the Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 
Share Incentive Plan from 7 500 000 (seven million five 
hundred thousand) shares to 18 000 000 (eighteen 
million) shares; and

 •  any one participant in terms of the Bauba Platinum 
Limited 2013 Share Incentive Plan from 2 000 000 
(two million) shares to 6 000 000 (six million) shares,

 respectively, by replacing:

 •  7 500 000 (seven million five hundred thousand) in clause 
8.1.1 of the Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 Share Incentive 
Plan with 18 000 000 (eighteen million); and 

 •  2 000 000 (two million) in clause 8.1.2 of the Bauba 
Platinum Limited 2013 Share Incentive Plan with 6 000 
000 (six million).”

 Explanatory note

  The purpose of this ordinary resolution number 3 is to increase 
both the maximum number of shares which may be issued 
under the Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 Share Incentive Plan 
(Bauba Share Incentive Plan) and the maximum number of 
shares which may be issued to any one Participant in respect 
of the Bauba Share Incentive Plan. 

  Since the design and approval of the Bauba Share Incentive 
Plan in 2013, the number of ordinary shares in issue has 
increased from 123 273 539 at the year ended 30 June 2013 
to 379 020 249 at the year ended 30 June 2016. The share 
price however, has decreased from R0,50 at the year ended 
30 June 2013 to R0,25 at the year ended 30 June 2016. 

  While the original maximum number of shares which could 
be issued under the Bauba Share Incentive Plan and the 
maximum number of shares which could be issued to any 

one participant was considered to be appropriate at the time, 
the subsequent increase in the number of ordinary shares 
in issue and the decrease in the share price have resulted 
in constraints on the effectiveness of utilising the Bauba 
Share Incentive Plan to attract, motivate, reward and retain 
participants who are able to influence the performance of 
the Group, on a basis which aligns their interests with those 
of the Company’s shareholders, which was the intended 
purpose of the implementation of the Bauba Share Incentive 
Plan. Accordingly, as the remuneration of directors and 
key employees through long-term share-based incentives 
remains a key part of the Group’s remuneration strategy to 
offer affordable, competitive market-related remuneration 
which attracts and retains competent employees that 
enhances business performance, it is the intention to amend 
the Bauba Share Incentive Plan.

  Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution 
number 3 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all 
members present or represented by proxy at the annual 
general meeting (excluding all of the votes attached to shares 
owned or controlled by existing participants in the Plan).

  The full Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 Share Incentive 
Plan, incorporating the proposed amendments, is available 
for inspection at the registered office of Bauba Platinum 
Limited and the sponsor by shareholders and/or prospective 
investors at no charge, during normal business hours from 
Wednesday, 30 November 2016 up to and including Tuesday,  
24 January 2017. 

18. Ordinary resolution number 4
 Signature of documents
  “Resolved that each director of Bauba Platinum Limited 

(the  Company) be and is hereby individually authorised to 
sign all such documents and do all such things as may be 
necessary for or incidental to the implementation of those 
resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting 
convened to consider the resolutions which are passed, in the 
case of ordinary resolutions, or are passed and registered 
where necessary by the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission, in the case of special resolutions.”

  Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this annual general 
meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is 
more than 50% of the votes exercised on such resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

19. Other business
  To transact such other business as may be transacted at the 

annual general meeting of the Company.
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Voting and proxies
Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting 
require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the votes 
exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented 
by proxy at the meeting. Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this 
annual general meeting, unless stated otherwise, require approval 
from a simple majority, which is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy 
at the meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general 
meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and act in 
his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. For the 
convenience of registered members of the Company, a form of proxy 
is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary 
shareholders who:

• hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or

•  are recorded on the sub-register in “own name” dematerialised 
form.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares 
through a CSDP or broker without “own name” registration and who 
wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP 
or broker to provide them with the relevant Letter of Representation 
to attend the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not 
wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP or 
broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, at least  
48 (forty-eight) hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public 
holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

Kindly note that meeting participants, which includes proxies, are 
required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before 
being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. 
Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s 
licences and passports.

By order of the board

Merchantec Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

30 November 2016
Johannesburg
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Form of proxy

BAUBA Platinum Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

(Registration number 1986/004649/06)

Share code: BAU  |  ISIN: ZAE000145686

(Bauba Platinum or the Company or the Group)

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:

• hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders); or

• have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own name” registration,

at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at the registered office of the Company at Cube Workspace, 1 Wedgewood 
Link, Bryanston, at 10:00 on Wednesday, 25 January 2017 and any adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general 
meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy 
and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must 
not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone work (            ) Telephone home (            ) Cell 

being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (see note):

1.  or failing him/her,

2.  or failing him/her,

3.  the chairperson of the meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company convened for purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat (resolutions) and at each 
postponement or adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against such resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares 
in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the Company and Group 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2016

2. To confirm the appointment of Nick van der Hoven as chief executive officer 

3. To confirm the appointment of Jonathan Knowlden as financial director

4. To approve the re-election as director of Mathews Phosa who retires by rotation

5. To approve the re-election as director of Martin Luyt who retires by rotation

6. To approve the re-election as director of Damian Smith who retires by rotation

7. To approve the appointment of Martin Luyt as member and chairman of the audit and risk 
committee

8. To approve the appointment of Sholto Dolamo as member of the audit and risk committee
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Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

9. To approve the appointment of Damian Smith as member of the audit and risk committee

10. To confirm the re-appointment of BDO South Africa Incorporated as auditors of the Company 
together with J Schoeman for the ensuing financial year

11. Special resolution number 1
Approval of the non-executive directors’ remuneration

12. Ordinary resolution number 1
Approval of the remuneration policy

13. Ordinary resolution number 2
Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

14. Special resolution number 2
General approval to acquire shares

15. Special resolution number 3 
Financial assistance for subscription of securities

16. Special resolution number 4 
Loans or other financial assistance to directors

17. Ordinary resolution number 3
Approval of amendments to the Bauba Platinum Limited 2013 Share Incentive Plan

18. Ordinary resolution number 4
Signature of documents

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes exercisable.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead. A proxy so 
appointed need not be a member of the Company.

Signed at on 2017

Signature Assisted by (if applicable)
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Notes to the form of proxy

1.  Summary of rights contained in section 58 of the Companies 
Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended (Companies Act)

 In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

 •  a shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with 
the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, 
appoint any individual (including an individual who is 
not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and 
speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf 
of such shareholder; 

 •  a proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on 
behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to 
any restriction set out in the instrument appointing 
such proxy;

 •  irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a 
proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any 
time and to the extent that the relevant shareholder 
chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise 
of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;

 •  irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint 
a proxy, any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy 
is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to 
appoint such proxy states otherwise;

 •  if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder 
may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it 
in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment 
of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation 
instrument to the proxy and to the company; and 

 •  a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to 
exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right 
of such shareholder without direction, except to the 
extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of 
incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, 
provides otherwise (see note 7).

2.  The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders 
who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on 
the sub-register in electronic form in “own name”. 

3.  Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through 
a CSDP or broker without “own name” registration and wish 
to attend the annual general meeting must instruct their 
CSDP or broker to provide them with the relevant Letter 
of Representation to attend the annual general meeting in 
person or by proxy. If they do not wish to attend in person 
or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP or broker with their 
voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement 
entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. Should 
the CSDP or broker not have provided the Company with the 
details of the beneficial shareholding at the specific request 
by the Company, such shares may be disallowed to vote at 
the annual general meeting.

4.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general 
meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two 
alternate proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder of the 
Company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, 
with or without deleting “the chairperson of the meeting”. 

The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy 
and who is present at the annual general meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those proxy(ies) 
whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the 
proxy will be exercised by the chairperson of the meeting. 

5.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, 
on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. 
A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. If an 
“X” has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular 
resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by 
the shareholder concerned. Failure to comply with this will 
be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from 
voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in 
respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. 
A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes 
exercisable by the shareholders or by the proxy, but the 
total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is 
recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by 
the shareholder or the proxy.

6.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid 
in relation to the annual general meeting notwithstanding the 
death, insanity or other legal disability of the person granting 
it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary 
shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice 
as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been 
received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 (forty 
eight) hours before the commencement of the annual general 
meeting.

7.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her 
proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to 
abstain from voting, or gives contradictory instructions, 
or  should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) 
which may properly be put before the annual general meeting 
be proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she 
thinks fit.

8.  The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or 
accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received 
other than in compliance with these notes.

9.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the 
chairperson of the annual general meeting, to vote on such 
shareholder’s behalf, shall be deemed to include the authority 
to vote on procedural matters at the annual general meeting.

10.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual 
general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to 
the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

11.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must 
be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded 
by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the 
chairperson of the annual general meeting.
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12.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be 
assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless 
the relevant documents establishing his/her capacity are 
produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries 
of the Company.

13. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

 • any one holder may sign the form of proxy;

 •  the vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that 
purpose seniority will be determined by the order in 
which the names of ordinary shareholders appear in the 
Company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders 
a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to 
the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

14.   Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited:

 Hand deliveries to:
 Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
 Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001

 Postal deliveries to:
 Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
 PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

  to be received by no later than 10:00 on Monday,  
23 January 2017 (or 48 (forty-eight) hours before any 
adjournment of the annual general meeting which date, 
if necessary, will be notified on SENS).

15.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any 
blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or 
correction must be signed and not merely initialled.

  Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by 
proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act:

  A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed 
by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the 
rights of a shareholder to revoke such appointment (as set 
out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant 
shareholders’ meeting.

  A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of 
a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions 
set out in the instrument appointing the proxy.

  The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to 
the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy 
chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any 
rights as a shareholder.

  The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder 
in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a 
copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the 
Company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes 
a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to 
act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date 
stated in the revocation instrument, if any; and (b) the date on 
which the revocation instrument is delivered to the Company 
as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.

  If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been 
delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment 
remains in effect, any notice that is required by the Companies 
Act or the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to 
be delivered by the Company to the shareholder, must 
be delivered by the Company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) 
the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the 
Company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee 
charged by the Company for doing so.

 Attention is also drawn to the “Notes to proxy”.

  The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any 
shareholder from attending the annual general meeting. 
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